Tetrahedron 64 (2008) 10465-10496



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Tetrahedron

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/tet

Tetrahedron report number 851

Nanyan Fu^{a,*}, Thomas T. Tidwell^{b,*}

^a Department of Chemistry, Fuzhou University, Fuzhou, Fujian 350002, China
^b Department of Chemistry, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario M5S 3H6, Canada

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 June 2008 Available online 14 August 2008

Contents

1.	Introduction	10465
2.	Mechanistic studies	10466
	2.1. Mechanistic studies of uncatalyzed ketene–imine cycloadditions	. 10467
	2.1.1. β-Lactams from silvl substituted ketenes	. 10471
3.	Steroselective β-lactam formation via ketene enolates	10472
	3.1. Enantioselective formation of β -lactams using chiral ketenes or chiral imines	. 10475
	3.2. Other β-lactam forming reactions	. 10477
	3.3. Münchnone reactions	. 10481
4.	Spiro lactam formation	10481
5.	Bis(β-lactams)	10482
6.	Keene [3+2] and [4+2] cvcloadditions with imines	10487
7.	Ketene [2+2] cycloaddition with azo compounds	10493
8.	Outlook	10494
	Acknowledgements	. 10494
	References and notes .	. 10494
	Biographical sketch	. 10496

1. Introduction

The report by Staudinger in 1907 of the reactions of diphenylketene (**1**) with benzylideneaniline (**2**), benzaldehyde, and cyclopentadiene forming [2+2] adducts **3–5**, respectively, marked not only the beginning of cycloaddition chemistry, but also that of the chemistry of β -lactams.¹ There was, however, little interest in the preparation of β -lactams (2-azetidinones) for many years, as these materials possessed no apparent utility. By contrast β -lactones were useful for the preparation of alkenes upon decarboxylation (Scheme 1), while cyclobutanones attracted significant preparative and theoretical interest.

Tetrahedror

The β -lactam antibiotic penicillin was discovered by Fleming in 1928,^{2a,b} although the appreciation of its seemingly miraculous medicinal properties was rather slow to develop. However, once these became known on the eve of World War II there was a great effort not only to prepare large quantities of the drug using biological processes, but also to elucidate the structure of penicillin and to devise laboratory syntheses. The determination of the β -lactam structure took the concentrated efforts of many of the

 $^{^{\}circ}$ Dedicated to Professor Ajay K. Bose, a pioneer in β-lactam chemistry for 60 years since his doctoral studies at MIT from 1946 – 1950 with John Sheehan when the first synthetic penicillin analogues were prepared. He received the B.Sc. and M.Sc. degrees at the University of Allahabad, India, and after postdoctoral work at Harvard University and the University of Pennsylvania and teaching at the Indian Institute of Technology, Kharagpur, he joined the Stevens Institute of Technology, Hoboken, NJ, in 1959, and became Professor Emeritus in 2007. He has published very extensively not only on β-lactams but also microwave-assisted synthesis and numerous other topics, and has received many awards, including US Presidential Award for Excellence in Science Mentoring and the Lifetime Achievement Award of The Indian Chemical Society.

E-mail addresses: nanyan_fu@fzu.edu.cn (N. Fu), ttidwell@chem.utoronto.ca (T.T. Tidwell).



Scheme 1. [2+2] Cycloaddition reactions of diphenylketene.¹

world's leading chemists, and this problem was solved by 1944,^{2c} with a major contribution from R. B. Woodward among others, as has been described.^{2d} Even with the full report of this effort in 1949^{2c} and the proof of the structure by X-ray by Dorothy Crowfoot Hodgkin, there were still doubts, as expressed by Sir Robert Robinson,^{2e} regarding the β -lactam structure. He advocated 'a protonomer' of the β -lactam which, "provides a simple relation between the oxazolone and β -lactam structures. A pendulum-like swing involves their interconversion." He represented the structures as shown in Figure 1, and the phrasing suggests a movement of atoms between the structures.



Figure 1. Proposed β -lactam 'protonomers'.^{2e}

Methods for biological preparation of penicillin for clinical use were already in wide use, but development of laboratory syntheses followed a more tortuous path. The synthesis of a penicillin analogue, the penam **9**, by Sheehan and co-workers using the [2+2] cycloaddition of in situ generated ketene **6** with imine **7** forming the precursor **8** was accomplished in 1950 (Scheme 2),^{2f} confirming Woodward's prescient structural assignment, and showing the way for the extensive future development of this reaction. The total synthesis of natural penicillin V was completed by Sheehan in 1957, but did not utilize a ketene cycloaddition.^{2g}

The preparation and chemistry of β -lactams have been the subject of frequent reviews,³ including not only [2+2]



Scheme 2. Synthesis of the penicillin analogue **9**, and the structure of natural penicillin V.

cycloadditions of ketenes with imines, but also other routes as well. The use of β -lactams as synthons for a wide variety of further useful products has also been extensively studied.³ⁿ The goal of the current review is to consider recent work on the synthesis and mechanism of β -lactam formation by [2+2] cycloadditions of ketenes with imines, especially those published since the last update^{3d} in 2003, and to consider some aspects in greater detail, including the mechanism of the reaction, and the preparation of bis(β -lactams).

The cephalosporins are another family of β -lactam antibiotics, and the first example came with the discovery of cephalosporin *p* by Guiseppi Brotzu from the sea near a sewer outlet in Caligari, Italy, in 1948.^{4a,b} This set off another chain of chemical investigations, with the elucidation of the structure of cephalosporin C (10) in 1955.^{4c} Woodward announced the first synthesis of cephalosporin C in his Nobel award address in 1965,^{4d,e} but this was also not achieved using a [2+2] cycloaddition. Analogs of **10** with significant antibiotic activity have, however, been prepared using β -lactam formation by ketene–imine reactions, 4^{f-h} including enantioselective formation of the carbacephalosporin analog 10a beginning with cycloaddition of a chiral ketene (Scheme 3).^{4h} One of the difficulties in this area is that cyclic imines usually form trans products on cycloaddition with imines, but cycloaddition with an acyclic imine followed by ring closure leads to the desired cis product **10a**.^{4h} Stereochemical control remains a major concern in β-lactam synthesis.



Scheme 3. Cephalosporin C and enantioselective synthesis of a carbacephalosporin nucleus.

Ketene chemistry has been the subject of recent reviews,^{5a–c} and imines, or Schiff bases, are the other necessary components for β -lactam synthesis by [2+2] cycloaddition. These were first characterized by Schiff in 1864,^{5d,e} and have a multitude of uses, with their role in β -lactam synthesis remaining as an essential part of current synthetic and mechanistic chemistry. Ketene–imine cycloadditions have also been extensively examined,^{3,5} with an emphasis on variations in imine structure, including chiral and cyclic imines.

2. Mechanistic studies

Early in the development of ketene–imine [2+2] cycloadditions forming β -lactams interest concentrated on the creation of synthetic methodology, with little attention to the mechanisms of these processes.^{3.6} With the appearance of the Woodward–Hoffmann selection rules governing cycloaddition reactions and the realization that concerted [2+2] cycloadditions are controlled by orbital symmetry the question arose as to how this applied to ketene cycloadditions.⁷ It was originally suggested that 'it must be concluded that those cycloadditions, which do occur in cases prohibited by our selection rules for concerted reactions must proceed through multistep mechanisms (e.g., formation of cyclobutane derivatives by dimerization of allenes and ketenes...)'.^{7a} Upon further consideration it was concluded that such concerted reactions were allowed by $[\pi 2_a + \pi 2_s]$ mechanisms, but this was not initially applied to ketene-imine cycloadditions.^{7c,d} Mechanistic study of ketene-imine reactions concentrated on the stereochemistry observed, and the results were somewhat contradictory, in that in some cases reactions of aldoketenes (RCH=C=O) with imines gave high selectivity for formation of the less stable cis products, while in others mixtures of cis and trans products, or even exclusively trans products were formed.^{3f} An empirical classification of the ketenes favoring different stereochemical outcomes was devised, ^{3f} grouped as Bose–Evans^{8a,b} ketenes with small substituents favoring formation of *cis* β -lactams, Sheehan²¹ ketenes with medium sized substituents favoring cis products, except for reactions with diarylimines forming trans products, and Moore ketenes with large substituents favoring trans lactams.^{3f,8c,d}

2.1. Mechanistic studies of uncatalyzed ketene–imine cycloadditions

β-Lactam formation by ketene–imine [2+2] cycloaddition presents many mechanistic problems, and is still far from being completely understood. A recent report asks "The Mechanism of the Ketene–Imine (Staudinger) Reaction in its Centennial: Still an Unsolved Problem?"⁹ Reaction occurs by both uncatalyzed and catalyzed processes, and can follow complex mechanistic pathways, and even the involvement of ketenes in some examples is not always certain. The first example was the uncatalyzed process observed by Staudinger in 1907,¹ and this and other early examples of the uncatalyzed reaction generally used isolable ketenes such as Ph₂C==C==O or Me₂C==C==O, which did not form stereoisomeric products. Initial studies of the reactions of ketenes with vinyl ethers found the reactions to be stereoselective, and ketene–alkene reactions forming cyclobutanones were classified as concerted reactions.^{7c–e,10}

Kagan and Luche¹¹ already in 1968 observed that competitive reactions forming β -lactams **13** from diphenylketene (**1**) and imines (**11**) were faster in the more polar solvent butyronitrile compared to toluene, and that when MeOH was added after partial reaction that a portion of the product was diverted to formation of **14**. These results were interpreted as showing the reactions were stepwise, with the formation of zwitterion **12** (Scheme 4). In further competition experiments, the reaction of 1 equiv of Ph₂C=C=O (**1**) with a mixture of 1 equiv each of PhCH=NPh (**11a**) and 4-MeOC₆H₄CH=NPh (**11b**) or **11a** and PhCH=NC₆H₄OMe-4 (**11c**) in toluene gave a preference for reaction **11b**/**11a** and of **11c**/**11a** of 2.3, also consistent with preferential attack of the more electron-rich and nucleophilic imine, and the formation of a zwitterionic intermediate **12** in the reaction.¹¹



Scheme 4. Zwitterionic intermediates in ketene-imine cycloadditions.

Cycloadditions of more reactive monosubstituted ketenes, which could form cis and trans products were, however, usually carried out by in situ dehydrochlorination of acyl chlorides with triethylamine in the presence of the imine, and these reactions resulted in variable stereochemical results.^{8a} The question arose as to whether ketenes were always involved in these reactions, as direct reaction of the acyl chloride with the imine was also shown to occur in some cases, and this process could not always be excluded as a path for β -lactam formation.^{8a}

To circumvent these problems, reactions of unsymmetrically substituted cyano ketenes 15 (R=t-Bu, Me, Cl, Br, and I) generated in situ by thermal reactions forming only inert byproducts were undertaken.^{8c,d} These reactions usually showed stereoselective formation of products with a trans arrangement **18a** of CN and H in the product β -lactams (Scheme 5). The product **18b** became significant when R¹ was a bulky group such as *tert*-butyl. This formation of the more stable cycloadduct is counter to the usual finding for concerted $[\pi 2_s + \pi 2_a]$ reactions,^{7c-e} while the stereoselectivity is unusual for a two-step mechanism. It was shown, however, that zwitterions 17 generated independently also gave products 18 with the same stereochemistry as the ketene-imine reactions. Capture of the zwitterions with alcohols was also demonstrated.^{8c,d} Therefore, the results were interpreted in terms of two-step reactions with stereoselective attack of the imine on the cvano substituted side of the ketene forming zwitterionic intermediates 17, which underwent conrotatory bond formation of β -lactams **18** (Scheme 5).^{8c,d} Further product studies of the stereochemistry of such reactions have increasingly favored this mechanism involving formation of initial zwitterions, which then close to the product with conrotatory bond rotation.



Experimental study of the mechanism with direct observation during the course of ketene [2+2] cycloadditions with imines is made difficult both because the ketenes are often generated in situ for reaction with imines, and also because the ketene reactions are usually quite rapid. Photochemical generation of a ketene in a solid matrix in the presence of imidazole at 10 K revealed the ketene IR absorption at 2110 cm^{-1} together with the imidazole, and upon warming to 140 K the ketene and imidazole absorption diminished and an IR absorption appeared at 1635 cm⁻¹, and was attributed to zwitterion formation.^{12a} In a pioneering study, reaction of the chiral acyl chloride **19** with the imine **21** catalyzed by *i*-Pr₂NEt gave *cis* β -lactams 23 with a 23a/23b ratio of 1:4 (Scheme 6).^{12b} The reaction of **19** with *i*-Pr₂NEt gave a strong IR band at 2120 cm⁻¹ assigned to the ketene intermediate 20, and the reaction of 19 with 21 at different concentrations of *i*-Pr₂NEt was monitored by IR at -22 °C, with simultaneous observation of all reactants and products. It was found that there was an initial rapid formation of ketene 20, which reached a steady state, and that the consumption of 19 and 21 was concurrent with the formation of 23 and was first order in the concentration of *i*-Pr₂NEt (Scheme 6).^{12b} No ketene was formed when reaction was attempted using Et₃N as the base, and deprotonation of an acylamine intermediate was excluded by the first order dependence on *i*-Pr₂NEt concentration. The conversion of **19** and **21** to **23** was interpreted as being exclusively through the intermediacy of ketene **20**, with initial nucleophilic attack of the imine nitrogen on the ketene carbonyl forming intermediate zwitterion 22, which closed to the products 23.12b



Scheme 6. Zwitterion formation in ketene-imine reaction.

Since kinetic studies of ketene-imine reactions are difficult to carry out further such investigations have been mainly limited so far to competition studies. The reaction is, however, amenable to computational study. The first ab initio computations were reported in 1992 for the reaction of ketene (24) with methylenimine (25), and at the HF/3-21G level the reaction was predicted to proceed by an asynchronous but concerted reaction, contrary to experimental results.¹³ However, computations at the HF/6-31G*//HF/6-31G* and MP2/6-31G*//MP2/6-31G* levels found an initial twisted transition state (TS1) giving a zwitterionic intermediate 26, which closes through TS2 to β -lactam **27** (Scheme 7).^{13b} Energies (kcal/mol) relative to the reactants were 3.7 (TS1), 3.5 (26), 21.3 (TS2), and -41.2 (27). Further AM1 computations in 1993 agreed that the reaction was stepwise.^{14a} Thus, the reaction was indicated to proceed through an initial reversible nucleophilic attack by nitrogen on the carbonyl carbon forming a zwitterionic intermediate, which passes through a higher barrier to the product in a strongly exothermic overall reaction.



Scheme 7. Computational studies of ketene–imine [2+2] cycloaddition.

A contrary view was presented^{13a,14b} from computational studies of the cycloaddition reaction of ketene (24) and methylenimine (25), leading to 2-azetidinone (27) using RHF/3-21G and IRC. This reaction was suggested to be concerted but nonsynchronous, taking place through a twisted transition state. Four p orbitals were involved in this reaction, described as a $(2 \times 1 + 1)$ 'type cycloaddition.^{14b} The activation barrier was calculated to be 33.9 kcal/mol. Substituted derivatives were also studied.^{14b} A separate analysis of one center frontier-orbitals also supported a concerted pathway for the ketene and methylenimine reaction, but this was not compared to the stepwise pathway.^{14c} Further analysis suggested that the consideration of solvent effects favored the two-step mechanisms, and that because of the strong basis set dependence that care should be taken in interpretations, but that the preponderance of experimental and computational evidence favored the latter pathway.^{14d}

Subsequent computational studies have supported the two-step mechanism, and have concentrated on efforts to explain the stereochemistry of the reaction. Computational studies indicate the torquoselectivity of ketene–imine interconversion with β -lactams parallels that seen in electrocyclization of 1,3-butadienes to cyclobutenes, with π electron donating substituents (F, Cl, OH, and CH₃)

preferentially occupying the outer positions in the transition state with conrotation to form cis products.¹⁵ For the reaction of chloroketene with CH₃CH=NH, the cis transition state in dichloromethane was found to be favored by 11.57 kcal/mol at the B3LYP/6-31G* level (Fig. 2).^{15b}



Figure 2. Torquoselective effects in β -lactam formation.

Calculations at the B3LYP/6-31G* level indicated that for various combinations of substituents, ketenes give stepwise reaction with imines **16** with formation of zwitterions **30** followed by conrotatory ring closure giving cis products **31**, in agreement with experiment.¹⁵ For reaction of these imines with acyl chlorides in the presence of Et₃N it was calculated that direct reaction of the acyl chloride with the imine forming **32** took place, followed by chloride addition to give **33** leading to enolate **34**, and then intramolecular S_N2 reaction formed *trans* β -lactams **31** (Scheme 8).^{15b}



Scheme 8. Computational studies of ketene-imine cycloaddition.

A mechanistic scheme derived using CASSCF and CASPT2 methods identified two directions of approach of ketene **24** and imine **25** in the reaction, with a near coplanar arrangement of the ketene and imine in the trans approach, and a 39.0° dihedral angle between the two in the intermediate for the *gauche* approach (Scheme 9).¹⁶ This was proposed as a useful method for more detailed calculations, including substituent and solvent effects to successfully predict the product stereochemistry.¹⁶



Steric effects also influence the stereochemistry of β -lactam formation, and experimentally ketenes generated by dehydrochlorination of carbonyl chlorides with Et₃N or dehydration of carboxylic acids at -78 °C reacted with imines **38** to form exclusively *cis* β -lactams **31a** when Ar = Ph or 4-MeOC₆H₄, but with Ar = 1naphthyl, 1-anthracenyl, 9-phenanthrenyl, 1-pyrenyl, and 6-chrysenyl these gave exclusively trans products (Scheme 10).^{17a} In a computational study of this reaction at the B3LYP(PCM)/6- $31+G^*+\Delta ZPVE$ level.^{17b} the reactivities were compared for N-arvlimines 38 (arvl = phenvl or 1-naphthvl) with methoxyketene (37) to explain the divergent stereochemistry of the product β -lactams **40** (Scheme 10). Reactions of 37 with cis- and trans-38 were considered, and it was concluded that for Ar = 1-naphthyl that the lowest energy pathway to the product 40 involved initial trans to cis isomerization of trans-38 to cis-38, which added to ketene 37 giving zwitterion anti-39 followed by conrotatory cyclization to form trans-40.17b The highest barrier for the latter route was 0.7 kcal/mol less than that for the path involving initial reaction of **37** with *trans*-**38**. For Ar = Phthe pathway with reaction of trans-38 leading to cis-40 had a lower barrier than that leading to trans-40.



Scheme 10. Formation of *cis* and *trans* β-lactams 40 with imine isomerization.

Computational studies using the atoms in molecules (AIM) method for the reaction of ketene (**24**) with vinylimine (**41**) found concerted pseudopericyclic [2+2] pathways to the more stable β -lactam **42** and the less stable iminooxetane **43**, although there was a lower barrier for formation of **43** (Scheme 11).¹⁸ Further study of the ellipticity changes in the reactions confirmed the previous conclusions, and led to the introduction of new criteria for pericyclic and pseudopericyclic reactions.^{18b}





The formation of β -lactams by the photolysis of metal–carbene complexes in the presence of imines is a valuable synthetic method that has long been the subject of mechanistic speculation. Irradiation with visible light of the complex **44** was proposed to form the ketene complex **44a**, which in the presence of imine **38a** gave the β -lactam **31a** as a cis/trans mixture (Scheme 12).^{19a} A DFT study using B3LYP/6-31G* level computations found a pathway for carbonylation of CH₂=Cr(CO)₅ (**45**) in solvent water forming the solvated ketene complex (H₂O)(OC)₄Cr·CH₂=C=O (**46**), which led to a new complex **47** with the imine CH₂=NH, and then the transition state for [2+2] cycloaddition which led to **48** (Scheme 12).^{19a} Further computational studies examined the photochemistry of metal–carbene complexes in non-ketene forming reactions.^{19b}



Scheme 12. β-Lactam formation from chromium–carbene complexes.

Systematic experimental studies of the mechanism of the uncatalyzed formation of β-lactams have been carried out by Xu and co-workers²⁰ by determining the cis/trans product ratio as a function of structural variation of the ketene as well as at both positions on the imine. This work has been reviewed, ^{20b} and greatly clarifies this process. To eliminate effects due to the presence of reagents used in ketene formation these reactants were generated by thermal Wolff rearrangements, which are clean reactions with only N₂ as a byproduct. In one set of experiments thermolysis of phenylthio diazoacetate 49 was used for in situ generation of phenylthioketene (50) in the presence of aryl substituted imines 51 to form cis/trans mixtures of β -lactams **52** (Scheme 13). The yields of the products were determined by NMR analysis of the product mixture, and the respective products were then separated by column chromatography for identification.²⁰ A linear correlation of $\log(cis/trans)$ with the Hammett σ constants was observed, with a slope $\rho = 1.62$, and $r^2 = 0.98$. The increase in percentage of trans product as the electron donor ability of the substituent at the imine carbon increased was interpreted as indicating formation of a zwitterionic intermediate, which was stabilized by the electron donation and therefore had a longer lifetime, which allowed isomerization to an intermediate, which could form trans product (vide infra, Scheme 15).



Scheme 13. Selectivity in β-lactam formation.

The steric effect at the nitrogen substituent in imines PhCH==NR¹ was examined by reaction with ketene **50** and gave cis/ trans ratios of <2:98, 12:88, and >98:2 for R¹=Bn, *i*-Pr, and *t*-Bu, respectively.²⁰ The increase in cis product with increasing bulk of the substituent paralleled earlier studies by Moore and co-workers.^{8c,d}

Substituted arylketenes **53** generated similarly from diazo ketones reacted with imine **51** ($R = NO_2$) to give cis/trans mixtures of β-lactams **54**, and these gave a linear correlation of log(cis/trans) with the Hammett *σ* constants with a slope $\rho = -0.63$ and $r^2 = 0.93$ at 140 °C, and an estimated $\rho = -1.1$ at 80 °C (Scheme 14).²⁰ Electron withdrawing substituents R on the ketenyl aryl ring were proposed to stabilize a zwitterionic intermediate permitting greater conversion to the more stable conformation of the zwitterion leading to the *trans* product **54** (vide infra, Scheme 15).



ĸ	54 (%)	CISITIATIS	ĸ	54 (%)	CISILITATIS
4-MeO	93	66:34	4-Cl	65	40:60
4-Me	68	55:45	3-CI	56	38:62
Н	52	47:53	4-0 ₂ N	60	27:73

Scheme 14. Aryl substituent effects on formation of β -lactams.



Scheme 15. Proposed mechanism for formation of *cis* and *trans* β-lactams.²⁰

These reactions were interpreted as involving a mechanism in which for the major product determining pathway the imine approaches the ketene from the side opposite to the ketene substituent to form a zwitterion **55a**, and this either undergoes direct ring closure to form β -lactam *cis*-**31** or isomerizes by bond rotation to give intermediate zwitterion 55b, which undergoes ring closure to trans-31 (Scheme 15). Electron donating ketene substituents R and electron withdrawing imine substituents R^2 destabilize the intermediate zwitterion 55a, and favor direct ring closure forming the *cis* β -lactam. Electron withdrawing ketene substituents R and electron donating imine substituents R² stabilize the zwitterions 55a, and increase the probability of isomerization to zwitterion **55b**, thereby enhancing formation of the *trans* β -lactam. The cyclization step was proposed to involve a nucleophilic attack of the enolate on the imine moiety (vide infra, Scheme 17), and not an electrocyclic reaction. The higher yield of cis product with increasing bulk of the substituent on nitrogen was attributed to steric hindrance in the intermediate 55b, which inhibits formation of this intermediate leading to trans product.

Xu and co-workers,²⁰ proposed that the conversion of **55a** to *trans*-**31** did not occur by an electrocyclic disrotatory process because analogous *cis*-cyclic imines **56** formed exclusively *trans* β -lactams **57** in 99% yield by conrotatory processes independent of their electronic character (Scheme 16), and therefore concluded that ketene–imine cycloadditions all proceeded by conrotatory

processes, or by non-electrocyclic nucleophilic attack of the enolate on the imine moiety, which is stereochemically equivalent (Scheme 17).



Scheme 16. β-Lactam formation from ketene 50 and cyclic imines 56.



Scheme 17. β-Lactam formation by direct nucleophilic attack by the enolate.

Phenylthioketene (**50**) reaction in situ with *N*-aryl substituted imines **58** to form cis/trans mixtures of β -lactams **59** was also examined (Scheme 18). The effect of substituents R on the cis/trans ratio was a small decrease in trans product with electron withdrawing R groups, consistent with the intermediacy of a shorter-lived intermediate.²⁰



Scheme 18. β-Lactam formation from ketene 50 and imines 58.

These results argue persuasively for a two-step mechanism for β -lactam formation from [2+2] cycloaddition of ketenes and imines with approach of the imine from the side opposite to the larger ketene substituent, and formation of a zwitterionic intermediate, which may form the product by a conrotatory process (Scheme 15) or the stereochemically equivalent intramolecular nucleophilic attack (Scheme 17) with rate constant k_2 (Scheme 15). If k_2 is faster than k_{-1} then the initial attack k_1 is likely rate-limiting, with no return to starting material. However, if the first step is reversible, then **55a** can undergo *syn/anti* interconversion, and k_3 is likely to be irreversible and rate-limiting, as reformation of the less stable zwitterion *syn-***55a** is unlikely, and ring closure to the *trans* β -lactam will occur. There may be no need to propose torquoelectronic effects (Fig. 2)¹⁵ in an electrocyclic ring closure, as direct

nucleophilic attack can explain the results (Scheme 17). Stabilization of the zwitterionic intermediate prolongs its lifetime and promotes isomerization and formation of a trans product.²⁰

Comparison of β -lactam formation using ketenes generated from diazo ketones by either photochemical or microwave induced Wolff rearrangements and reaction with acyclic or cyclic imines show that both processes give similar product compositions. The results can be explained as involving zwitterionic intermediates that can isomerize in some cases leading to trans products, although side reactions are more likely in the photochemical reactions.^{21a}

A study of reaction conditions showed that the more polar solvents toluene or acetonitrile modestly favored the formation of trans relative to *cis* β -lactam product, a result attributed to stabilization of the zwitterionic intermediate in the reaction, allowing a greater degree of isomerization of the imine moiety, and leading to the trans product.^{21b} The presence of additives such as amine salts did not significantly affect the product stereochemistry, and neither did the mode of ketene generation.^{21b} With ketene generation by dehydrochlorination the product stereochemistry was affected by the order of addition of the reagents, and this was attributed to the intermediacy of chloro amides **33** (Scheme 8) in some cases.^{21b}

The temperature dependence of the cis/trans selectivity in the [2+2] cycloaddition of ketenes with imines **50** forming β -lactams 60 has been examined (Scheme 19).^{22a} The ketenes were chosen as tending to favor *trans* β-lactams (Moore ketenes: **28**, **29**, **50**, and **53a**), or *cis* β -lactams (Sheehan and Bose–Evans ketenes: **6** and **36**. respectively), while imines **51a** and **51b** tend to favor *cis* and *trans* β -lactams **60**, respectively. Ketenes **28**, **29**, and **36** with imine **51a** or 51b showed a change in the cis/trans product ratio from between 42:58 and 66:34 at 150 °C to between 91:9 and 100:0 at 40 °C, while for ketene 6 with imine 51b the ratio varied from 4:96 to 87:13. Ketene 50 had ratios of 75:25 and 77:23 at 150 °C, with 73:27 and 70:30 at 40 °C, for imines 51a and 51b, respectively, with a maximum near 110 °C of 90:10. In most cases the cis-selectivities decreased with increasing temperature, a result that may be attributed to increase in the rates of isomerization in the zwitterion. In certain cases, increases in the selectivities were interpreted as due to favorable $p-\pi$ and $\pi-\pi$ interactions between the ketene and imine substituents, which increase the rate of direct ring closure more than the rate of isomerization of the zwitterions.



Scheme 19. Stereochemistry of β-lactam formation.

Reaction of ketenes **6** (R=PhthN), **28** (R=Cl), **29** (R=Me), and **36** (R=PhO) with the cyclic imine **56d** formed only *trans* β -lactams **57** (Scheme 20). This result rules out the possibility that formation of trans products at higher temperature is due to addition to the more hindered side of the ketene, which would lead to *cis* β -lactams.^{22a} Ketene–imine cycloadditions enhanced by microwave irradiation were found to show no significant difference in the stereo-selectivity than the same reactions conducted at the same temperature with thermal activation.^{22b}



Scheme 20. β-Lactam formation from cyclic imine 56d.

2.1.1. β -Lactams from silyl substituted ketenes

Ketenes bearing silyl substituents are remarkably less reactive compared to other ketenes, and provide useful mechanistic insights into reactions of ketenes with imines, which are normally too rapid for convenient reactivity studies. Trimethylsilylketene (**61**) is a unique isolable ketene that is quite unreactive, but does undergo cyclization with the highly nucleophilic imine **62** to form **63** (Scheme 21).²³ Tri(isopropyl)silylketene **64** reacted with imine **65** forming β -lactam **66** upon prolonged heating in a reaction proposed to involve a stepwise process forming a zwitterionic intermediate, which closed to the product (Scheme 21).²⁴



Scheme 21. [2+2] Cycloaddition of silylketenes imines.

Ketene **68** generated thermally as an unobserved intermediate from metal-carbene complexes **67** reacted in situ with imines **69** forming β -lactams **70** as 4:1 mixtures of cis/trans isomers (Scheme 22).²⁵ Ketene **71** generated in situ by dehydrohalogenation in refluxing heptane in the presence of imine **69a** underwent [2+2] cycloaddition forming β -lactam **72** as a single isomer of unknown stereochemistry (Scheme 22).²⁶ In the absence of **69a**, ketene **71** was identified as a product of this reaction by the IR absorption at 2114 cm⁻¹ but could not be isolated (Scheme 22).²⁶



Scheme 22. β-Lactams from silylketenes.

Electrophilic catalysis was also used to activate **61**, which in the presence of BF₃·OEt₂ reacted with electrophilic imine **73** forming β -lactam **74** as a 75:25 mixture of cis and trans isomers (four diastereomers) in 57% yield even at -50 to -30 °C (Scheme 23).²⁷

Examination of the reaction mixture by ¹³C NMR at -40 °C revealed the presence of a BF₃-imine complex and formation of the β -lactam 74, but no complexation of the ketene with BF₃ was detected. Computational studies at the B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p) level with incorporation of a solvent continuum for mechanisms involving BF₃ complexation either with the ketene carbonyl or with the imine nitrogen revealed that the lowest barrier pathway involved initial N–C bond formation between the imine and the ketene carbonyl carbon forming syn and anti intermediates, which converted to the trans and cis products with barriers of 9.1 and 8.7 kcal/mol, respectively, above the reactants (Scheme 23). Formation of the imine-BF₃ complex was calculated to be exothermic by 17.8 kcal/ mol, consistent with the observation of this intermediate by NMR, but the lowest barrier for reaction of this complex with the ketene was 26.7 kcal/mol, and it was concluded that this pathway was not competitive.



Scheme 23. Computational and experimental studies of silylketene cycloadditions.

N-Silyl substituted imines have been found to react with ketenes in a two-step process with an isolable azadiene intermediate, which cyclizes to the product β -lactam as shown in Scheme 44 (vide infra).

3. Steroselective β-lactam formation via ketene enolates

Ketene generation by dehydrohalogenation of acyl chlorides in the presence of tertiary amines often involves the generation of ketene enolates, which may be generated either by reaction of the tertiary amine with a first formed ketene, or by deprotonation of acyl ammonium ions formed by displacement of the halide by the amine. As described above (Scheme 6),¹² the presence of ketenes has been proven in some cases by detection of the characteristic ketenyl IR absorption, but in other examples the formation of discrete ketene intermediates is not certain.

The use of electrophilic imines and nucleophilic tertiary amine catalysts in β -lactam formation has been developed into a powerful synthetic method. As shown in Scheme 24 the nucleophilic catalyst adds to phenyl(methyl)ketene (**75**) forming the ketene enolate **76**, which reacts with the electrophilic imine **77** forming a further intermediate **78**, which cyclizes to the product **79**. The greatly enhanced yields in the presence of nucleophilic catalysts shows their efficacy in the procedure, while the variation in cis/trans product ratios shows a strong influence of the catalyst in the second step of the reaction.²⁸

The cobalt carbonyl anion $Co(CO)_{\overline{4}}$ from the catalyst cobaltocenium cobaltate (Cp₂Co[Co(CO)₄]) was also applied to reaction of **75** (Scheme 24) and for diphenylketene (**1**) with imine **77** (Scheme 25). No reaction was observed in the absence of the catalyst.^{28c}

To extend the reaction to monosubstituted ketenes and their derived zwitterions from amine additions the ketenes were generated using a shuttle procedure in which tertiary amines served as kinetic bases, along with the stoichiometric base



Scheme 24. β -Lactams by catalyzed ketene–imine cycloaddition in THF at $-78 \degree C.^{28a}$



Scheme 25. Cobalt carbonyl anion catalysis of ketene-imine cycloaddition.

1,8-bis(dimethylamino)naphthalene (**80**, Proton Sponge) that scavenges the HCl generated.^{28a,b} The tertiary amine rapidly effects the dehydrochlorination forming phenylketene (**53a**), and then transfers the proton to the stronger base, with regeneration of the catalytic base. Stoichiometric bases that react irreversibly include NaH with 15-crown-5, K₂CO₃, and the polymer bound base BEMP, which is a triaminophosphonamide imine bound to a polymer support (Scheme 26). In some cases, **80** may react reversibly with acyl chlorides so that the reactions proceed not by free ketenes but by acylation of the tertiary amine by the acyl chloride and then dehydrohalogenation.^{28d}



Scheme 26. Shuttle mechanism for ketene generation using NaH 15-crown-5 and R_3N .

The use of chiral amine catalysts such as benzoylquinine (BQ) as the shuttle base to catalyze asymmetric reactions of the ketene, together with the electrophilic cocatalyst $In(OTf)_3$ and 1 equiv of **80** gave β -lactams **82** in very high yields, enantioselectivity, and cis/ trans ratios (Scheme 27).²⁹ The use of $In(OTf)_3$ significantly increased the yields and based on a mechanistic analysis it was proposed that the chiral catalyst formed zwitterionic ketene enolates **81**, which reacted with the imine **77**, while $In(OTf)_3$ catalyzed the reaction by forming the imine complex **83**.²⁹ The bifunctional salicylquinine catalyst **84** was also prepared, and when complexed with $In(OTf)_3$ in a 1:1 ratio effectively combined the nucleophilic and electrophilic functions in one molecule, and provided **82** (R=Ph) in 90% yield, 99% ee, and 10:1 dr.²⁹



Scheme 27. β -Lactam formation with combined nucleophilic and electrophilic catalysis.

In reactions using **80** as the stoichiometric base, formation of ketene enolate **81** and of **81a** (Scheme 27) explains the observed catalysis, but the available evidence does not require the formation of free ketenes. In reactions halted after specified times by quenching with HCl the yield of β -lactam product depended upon the concentration of BQ, and increased by a factor of 3–5 in the presence of 10 mol % In(OTf)₃. That C–C bond formation giving intermediate **81a** (Scheme 27) was a rate-limiting step in the process was established by using PhCD₂COCl as a precursor and comparing product yields after quenching upon partial reaction with those of a companion reaction using PhCH₂COCl. The yield of the deuterated β -lactam was higher, giving an inverse isotope effect k(H)/k(D) value of 0.8, consistent with a slow step involving conversion of sp² to sp³ hybridized carbon.²⁹

When ketenes are first formed irreversibly from acyl chlorides by reaction with stoichiometric bases before contact with tertiary amines there is no doubt of their intermediacy. Ketene enolates formed by addition of tertiary amines to ketenes are expected to behave similarly to those generated by proton abstraction from acyl ammonium ions.

Competition studies of the stereoselective formation of β -lactams from reaction of acyl chlorides with bases in the presence of benzoylquinine led to the conclusion that these reactions involved formation of a zwitterionic benzoylquinine complex that reacted

with the imine to form the product.^{28d} Experiments in which phenylketene was generated by photochemical Wolff rearrangement of diazoacetylbenzene in the presence of benzoylquinine gave similar stereoselectivity in product formation, indicating that free ketenes formed enolates, which gave similar selectivity to the intermediates generated by acyl chloride dehydrohalogenation.^{28d}

This procedure for β -lactam formation has also been adapted for use using solid phase reactants in sequential packed columns containing dehydrohalogenation reagents for ketene generation and chiral catalysts.^{28d,30a} For example, the ketene is generated in the first column by stoichiometric reagents and flows into a second column containing the chiral catalyst that induces cycloaddition, and byproducts are scavenged in a further column.

In another example of catalytic stereoselective [2+2] cycloaddition phenoxyacetyl chloride in the presence of TMS-quinidine (TMSQD) and imines **85** gave β -lactams **86** through the possible intermediacy of in situ generated phenoxyketene (**36**) reacting via the acyl ammonium enolate (Scheme 28).^{30b}



Scheme 28. Catalytic enantioselective formation of β-lactams from phenoxyketene.

Procedures using cinchona alkaloids as amine catalysts gave a strong preference for the formation of *cis* β -lactams from monosubstituted ketene derived enolate intermediates upon reaction with *N*-sulfonylimines. However, the achiral anionic nucleophilic catalyst **87** gave preferentially *trans* β -lactams **88** from imine **77** and ketene enolates generated in situ from acyl chlorides and bis-1,8-(dimethylamino)naphthalene (**80**) (Scheme 29).^{30c} This reversal in the stereochemistry was attributed to a steric effect of the bulky cation.



R	Yield %	trans/ cis	R	Yield %	trans/ cis	R	Yield %	trans/ cis
Ph	50	37:1	$4-\text{MeOC}_6\text{H}_4$	70	13:1	4-CIC ₆ H ₄	46	50:1
PhS	35	14:1	$3-\text{MeOC}_6\text{H}_4$	51	>50:1	2-Thienyl	69	5:1

Scheme 29. Catalytic trans-selective β-lactam formation.

Reactions of disubstituted ketenes **89** with *N*-tosylimines RCH==NTs (**90a**) catalyzed by the ferrocene derivative (–)-**91** give stereoselective formation of *cis* β -lactams **93** (Scheme 30).^{31a,b}



		ee %			trans	ee%
C=0	Ph	84,81	Ph <i>i</i> -Bu	Ph	8:1	88,98
C=O	2-furyl	90,92	Ph j−Bu C=O	2-furyl	11:1	97,98
C=O	<i>E</i> -Ph- CH=CH	82,91	Ph j-Bu	<i>E</i> -Ph- CH=CH	10:1	95,98
C=O	c-Pr	89,94	Ph j−Bu C=O	c-Pr	15:1	88,89
C=O	<i>c</i> -hexyl	76,94	Ph C=O Et	2-furyl	9:1	97,95
Et Et	2-furyl	93,92	Ph C=O Et	c-Pr	10:1	98,98
Et Et	<i>E</i> -Ph- CH=CH	83,92				

Scheme 30. cis-Selective β -lactam formation from disubstituted ketenes and N-tosylimines.

By contrast reactions of ketenes **89** with *N*-trifylimines RCH==NTf (**90b**) and catalyst (-)-**91** preferentially formed *trans* β -lactams **95**. The reactions of **90a** were proposed to occur with initial catalyst coordination to the ketene, followed by C–C bond formation between the imine and the ketene, while *N*-trifylimines were thought to coordinate with the catalyst (-)-**91** followed by C–N bond formation with the ketene (Scheme 31).^{31c}

N-Heterocyclic carbene (NHC) **97** generated by deprotonation of the corresponding azolium salt **96** with potassium hexamethyldisilazide catalyzed reactions of diphenylketene (**1**) with *N*-tosylimines **90a** forming β -lactams **100** by [2+2] cycloaddition.³² These reactions are proposed to involve deprotonation of the salt **96** and to proceed by attack of carbene **97** on the carbonyl carbon of ketene **1** forming an intermediate enolate **98**, which adds the imine **90a** forming the intermediate **99**, which gives the β -lactam **100** with regeneration of the catalyst **97** (Scheme 32).

Ketene **89a** reacted with imine **90a** with catalysis by carbene **97** giving mixtures of *syn/anti* β -lactams **101** (Scheme 33).³²









Ph)=C=O <i>i-</i> Bu	+ RN	$\frac{\sum_{N \in I_2} I}{Ts - \frac{Et_2}{Ts}}$	N Ph Phu 97 0 R	O i-B N + Ts	Ph Ou N R Ts
89a	9	0a	syn-1	01	anti- 101
R	syn:anti	Yield (%)	R	syn:anti	Yield (%)
Ph	68:32	89	4-BrC ₆ H ₄	57:43	94
2-Naphthyl	63:37	89	E-PhCH=CH	76:24	72
2-Furyl	81:19	86			

Scheme 33. β-Lactams from ketene 89a and imine 90a catalyzed by NHCs.

Chiral *N*-heterocyclic carbenes **102** or **103** formed by deprotonation of the corresponding triazolium salts catalyzed the cycloaddition of diphenylketene (**1**) with imine **90a** giving stereoselective formation of β -lactams **100** (Scheme 34).³²



cat	R	Config 100	Yield (%)	ee (%)	cat	R	Config 100	Yield (%)	ee (%)
102	Ph	R	90	58	102	2-Furyl	S	85	61
103	Ph	R	96	64	103	2-Furyl	S	93	55
102	2-Np ^a	R	95	73	102	4-Br- C ₆ H ₄	R	79	56
103	2-Np ^a	R	92	75	103	4-Br- C ₆ H ₄	R	96	57

Scheme 34. Enantioselective β-lactam formation using chiral NHC catalysts.

Chiral *N*-heterocyclic carbenes **104** generated by deprotonation of salts catalyzed the [2+2] cycloaddition of ketene **89b** with imines **11** forming β -lactams **105**.³³ The most effective catalyst proved to be **104a**, and mechanisms involving initial reaction of the catalyst with either the ketene or the imine were discussed, and either may be operative in different examples (Scheme 35). Arylalkylketenes **89** reacted with imine **11c** with catalysis by carbene **104e** forming β -lactams **105a** (Scheme 36).³³



Scheme 35. Enantioselective catalysis of formation of β-lactams 105.

Ts

Metal hexamethyldisilazanes proved to be effective catalysts for reaction of ketenes **89** with imine **90c** in formation of β -lactams **108** (Scheme 37).³⁴ The reactions were proposed to proceed by nucleophilic catalysis by the silazide forming intermediates **106**, which react with the imines giving **107** leading to the products.

Ar R	=C=0	+ Ar ¹	N _. Boc -	104e THF, rt			
	89		11c		Ar' B 105a	C	
Ar, R	Ar ¹	cis/ trans	Yield, ee (%)	Ar, R	Ar ²	cis/ trans	Yield ee ^a (%)
Ph, Et	4-Cl- C ₆ H ₄	75:25	72,96	Ph, Et	2-Furyl	83:17	57,98
Ph, Et	2-CI- C ₆ H ₄	91:9	71,99	Ph, Me	2,4-Cl ₂₋ C ₆ H ₃	86:14	53,93
Ph, Et	2-Br- C ₆ H ₄	94:6	58,97	4-MeO- C ₆ H ₄ , Et	2-CI- C6H4	93:7	78,91
Ph, Et	3-CI- C ₆ H ₄	80:20	66,99	4-MeO- C ₆ H ₄ , Et	2,4-Cl ₂ - C ₆ H ₃	89:11	62,96
Ph, Et	4-Br- C ₆ H ₄	78:22	71,99	4-Cl- C ₆ H ₄ , Et	2-CI- C ₆ H ₄	99:1	61,97
Ph, Et	4-O ₂ N- C ₆ H ₄	71:29	75,99	4-Cl- C ₆ H ₄ , Et	4-CI- C ₆ H ₄	83:17	53,99
Ph, Et	Ph	75:25	64,99				

Scheme 36. Enantioselective catalysis of formation of β-lactams 105a.



,		trans	108 %	,		trans	108 %
Ph, Et, Ph	к	4:1	85	Ph, Et, Ph	Na	4:1	99
Ph, Et, 1-Naph	К	6.4:1	89	Ph,Me, Ph	Na	2.3:1	72
Ph, Et, 2- CIC ₆ H ₄	K	7:1	99	Ph,Et, Ph	Na	4:1	99
Ph, Et, 4-Tol	Na	2:1	87	Ph,Ph, Ph	Na	-	98
Ph, Et, 2- Thienyl	K	1.3:1	68	(CH ₂) ₆ , Ph	Na	-	48
Ph,Et, 3,4- (MeO) ₂ C ₆ H ₃	Na	3.5:1	88				

Scheme 37. Silazide catalysis of ketene-imine reaction.

3.1. Enantioselective formation of β -lactams using chiral ketenes or chiral imines

Chiral substituents on the ketenes, or on either side of the imine, have been used in recent studies of stereoselective β -lactam formation from ketenes generated in situ by dehydrochlorination with subsequent reaction with imines. For example, chiral ketenes **109** and **111** derived in situ from carboxylic acids react with imines **11** (Ar=Ph, C₆H₄Cl) forming mixtures of *cis* β -lactams **110** and **112** in 65–71% yields with 4:1 and 1:1 diastereomeric ratios, respectively. The higher diastereoselectivity for **109** was attributed to the proximity of the side chain to the concave face of the sugar moiety (Scheme 38).³⁵



Scheme 38. Stereoselective reaction of chiral 1,4:3,6-dianhydroglucitol-substituted ketenes with imines forming β -lactams.

The unobserved chiral ketene **114** derived in situ from the (–)-ephedrine substituted acid **113** reacted by [2+2] cycloaddition with imines **16** giving β -lactams **115a,b**, which were separated and after cleavage and recovery of the chiral auxiliary gave optically pure **116** or **117**, in 84–90% yields (Scheme 39).³⁶



Scheme 39. Chiral ketene [2+2] cycloaddition forming β -lactams.

The chiral ketene **118a** generated in situ by dehydrochlorination reacted with 1,3-diazabuta-1,3-diene **119** by [2+2] cycloaddition forming β -lactam **120** with >99.5% diastereomeric excess, although the absolute configuration of the product was not determined (Scheme 40).³⁷ Chiral ketene **118b** also gave stereoselective [2+2] cycloadditions with imines **122** forming chiral β -lactams **123** with quaternary centers (Scheme 40).³⁸

Chiral imines have been successfully applied in stereoselective synthesis, and **125** derived from 1,4:3,6-dianhydroglucitol reacts with ketenes **124** generated in situ by dehydrochlorination of acyl chlorides with Et₃N to give highly diastereoselective [2+2] cycloaddition forming *cis* β -lactams **126** with 96–98% enantioselectivity (Scheme 41).³⁵

D-Glucose derived chiral imines **127** reacted with ketenes **124** generated by in situ dehydrochlorinations of acyl chlorides, and formed *cis* β-lactams **128** with high diastereoselectivity by [2+2] ketene cycloadditions (Scheme 42).³⁹

Dehydrochlorination of acyl chlorides **129** forming ketenes **130** with in situ capture by optically active 5,6-dihydropyrazin-2(1*H*)-



Scheme 40. Stereoselective β-lactam formation using chiral ketene 118b.



Scheme 41. Stereoselective reaction of ketenes with chiral imines.

ones **131** gave fused *trans* oxopiperazino- β -lactams **132** with complete control of diastereoselectivity (Scheme 43).⁴⁰

Glycine derived ketenes **118** with chiral substituents generated in situ by dehydrochlorination in toluene or other solvents reacted with *N*-trimethylsilylimines **133** to give observable intermediates **134**, which at reflux cyclized to a mixture of *trans* β -lactams **135** with silyl migration (Scheme 44).⁴¹ These two-step cycloadditions were also found to proceed with microwave assistance under solvent-free conditions.⁴² Benzyloxyketene (**124**, RO = PhCH₂O) gave predominantly *cis*- β -lactams in cycloadditions with *N*-trimethylsilyl imines, while benzoyloxyketene (**124**, RO = PhCO₂) favored transstereochemistry.⁴³

These reactions have been studied computationally, and silicon migration was found to be concerted with N–C bond formation

10476



Scheme 42. Glucose derived chiral imines in stereoselective reactions with ketenes.



Scheme 43. Oxopiperazino- β -lactams by ketene–imine [2+2] cycloaddition.

leading to **134**, which then formed **135** as two trans diastereomers in a conrotatory cyclization.^{41,44}

N-Bis(trimethylsilyl)methylimines **137** reacted in situ with ketenes **136** generated by dehydrochlorination to form β -lactams **138** in which the *N*-methyl group was subsequently functionalized with displacement of the silyl substituents (Scheme 45).⁴⁵

Polymer supported imine **139** gave *cis* β -lactams **140** with high diastereoselectivities on reaction with ketenes generated by dehydrochlorination in solution, with removal of the β -lactams from the resin with 3% CF₃CO₂H (Scheme 46).^{46a} The use of polymer supported synthesis using ketenes, including preparation of β -lactams, has been reviewed.^{46b}

Chiral *N*,*N*-dialkylhydrazones **143** reacted in situ with the ketene **142** generated from the acid with Mukayama's salt **141** and *i*-Pr₂NEt to give the *trans*-azetidin-2-ones **144** as single





Scheme 44. Two-step Staudinger reactions with silyl group migration.



Scheme 45. N-Bis(trimethylsilyl)methyl substituted imines in β-lactam synthesis.

diastereomers (Scheme 47).^{47a} The formation of trans products was in contrast to the cis-selectivity observed with benzyloxyketene,^{47b} and was interpreted as involving formation of a zwitterionic intermediate, which because of a steric barrier to conrotatory closure to the cis-adduct instead underwent a C=N bond isomerization before conrotatory closing to the trans product (Scheme 47). For R²=BnOCH₂, the trans/cis ratio changed from <1:99 at room temperature to 97:3 at 120 °C.^{47a}

Imine **11b** containing a chiral chromium tricarbonyl biaryl complex as a substituent reacted with phenoxyketene (**36**) generated by dehydrochlorination forming the chiral β -lactam **145** (Scheme 48).^{48a} Chiral chromium tricarbonyl complexed arylimines **146** reacted with phthalimidoketene **6** generated in situ from the acyl chloride in completely stereoselective [2+2] cycloadditions forming β -lactams **147**, with the absolute configuration shown (Scheme 48).^{48b}

3.2. Other β -lactam forming reactions

Diphenylketene (1) reacted rapidly at -78 °C with transition metal substituted imine *N*-rhenaimine **148** by [2+2] cycloaddition forming β -lactam **149a** (Scheme 49).^{49a} The structure of the product was confirmed by X-ray and examined by DFT computations. Ferrocenyl-substituted β -lactams have been made using either ferrocenylketenes to form **149b**^{49b} or ferrocenylimines to form **149c**^{49c} (Scheme 49).





R	R ¹	R ²	Yield (%)	dr	R	R ¹	R ²	Yield (%)	dr
PhO	Me	Ph	80	57:43	<i>i</i> -Pr	2-furyl	PhO	80	67:33
PhthN	Me	Ph	69	55:45	<i>i</i> -Pr	2-furyl	PhthN	65	67:33
PhOx	Me	Ph	62	100:0	<i>i</i> -Pr	2-furyl	PhOx	73	100:0
CH ₂ =CMe	Me	Ph ₂ C=CH	91	55:45	<i>i</i> -Pr	2-thienyl	PhO	86	75:25
CH ₂ =CH	Me	Ph ₂ C=CH	58	55:45	<i>i</i> -Pr	2-thienyl	PhOx	81	100:0
PhO	(CH ₂) ₄ NH ₂	Ph	59	60:40	<i>i</i> -Pr	Ph ₂ C=CH	PhO	96	57:43
PhO	CH_2CO_2H	Ph	82	71:29	<i>i</i> -Pr	Ph ₂ C=CH	PhthN	96	55:45
PhO	CHOHMe	Ph	93	75:25	<i>i</i> -Pr	Ph ₂ C=CH	PhOx	97	100:0
PhO	Me	<i>c</i> -C ₆ H ₁₁	66	67:33	<i>i</i> -Pr	2-pyridyl	PhO	80	а
PhO	<i>i</i> -Pr	Ph	80	67:33	<i>i</i> -Pr	2-pyridyl	PhthN	62	67:33
PhthN	<i>i</i> -Pr	Ph	55	67:33	<i>i</i> -Pr	2-pyridyl	PhOx	71	100:0
PhOx	<i>i</i> -Pr	Ph	91	100:0					

^acis/trans products 2:1 ratio

Scheme 46. Polymer bound chiral imines for β -lactam formation by [2+2] cycloaddition.







R ²	Yield (%)	trans/cis	R ²	Yield (%)	trans/cis
Ме	74	>99:1	<i>i</i> -Bu	72	>99:1
<i>i</i> -Pr	66	>99:1	BnCH ₂	70	>99:1
<i>n</i> -C ₅ H ₁₁	58	98:2	BnOCH ₂	66	54:46

Scheme 47. Chiral *N*,*N*-dialkylhydrazones in β-lactam formation.



Scheme 48. Stereoselective [2+2] cycloaddition of chromium complexed imines.



Scheme 49. Organometallic substituted β-lactams.

Ketenes generated in situ by dehydrochlorination of acyl chlorides react with heteroarylimines **150** (Ar=2-thienyl and 2-, 3-, and 4-pyridyl) with selective formation of *cis*-4-heteroaryl substituted β -lactams **151** (Scheme 50).⁵⁰



Scheme 50. *cis*-Heteroaryl β-lactams by [2+2] cycloaddition.





Scheme 51. Fluoroalkyl β-lactams by [2+2] cycloaddition.

Chloroketene (**28**) generated in situ by dehydrochlorination reacted with imines **155** forming β -lactams **156** in 1,4-dioxane (Scheme 52).⁵²



Scheme 52. Arylazo substituted β -lactams by [2+2] cycloaddition.

Mixed selenium and sulfur substituted imines **157** reacted with ketenes generated in situ by dehydrochlorination forming β -lactams **158** (Scheme 53). Two isomers were obtained in each case, but their stereochemistry was not determined.⁵³

Ketene reactions with cyclic imines give β -lactams containing the ring structures of penicillins and cephalosporins, and there has been continuing interests in these reactions. Oxygensubstituted ketenes generated in situ by dehydrochlorination



Scheme 53. Formation of selenium substituted β -lactams by [2+2] cycloaddition.

reacted with phenanthridine (**159**) forming tetracyclic 2-azetidinones **160** as single trans isomers (Scheme 54).⁵⁴ However, less reactive alkylketenes failed to react with **159**. Reaction with ketene **118b** bearing a chiral substituent gave stereospecific formation of **160**.⁵⁴



Scheme 54. Phenanthridine derived β -lactams by ketene [2+2] cycloaddition.

Alkenylketenes **161** generated by in situ dehydrohalogenation of unsaturated acyl chlorides reacted with azatrienes **162** forming azocinone derivatives **164** in reactions proposed to proceed by [2+2] cycloaddition forming β -lactams **163**, which then underwent Cope rearrangement (Scheme 55).⁵⁵ The pathway for the reaction was studied by AM1 computations.

Polymer bound imines **165** reacted with vinylketene **161a** generated by carboxylic acid dehydration with Mukaiyama's reagent **141** to form polymer bound vinylazetidinones **166** (Scheme 56) that were then subjected to solid phase olefin cross metathesis.⁵⁶ Cleavage of the β -lactam from the resin gave the product in 32% yield.

Ketenes **167** bearing electron withdrawing substituents were generated in situ from carboxylic acids and 1,1-carbonyldiimidazole, and underwent [2+2] cycloaddition with imines **16** to form β -lactams **31** (Scheme 57).⁵⁷

Imines **168** reacted with oxygen-substituted ketenes generated in situ by dehydrochlorination of acyl chlorides to give β -lactams **169** used in annulation reactions to form bicyclic systems (Scheme 58).⁵⁸

 β -Lactams **171** prepared similarly from imines **170** and oxygensubstituted ketenes were used to form annulated derivatives.^{59a} Chloro substituted β -lactams **173** were prepared from imines **172** in



Scheme 55. Azocinones from tandem [2+2] cycloaddition and Cope rearrangement.



Scheme 56. Vinylketene [2+2] cycloaddition with polymer bound imines.



Scheme 57. Imine [2+2] cycloaddition with ketenes from acid dehydration.

an analogous manner for conversion to alkenes, and alkenylsubstituted β -lactams **175** were prepared directly from alkenyl imines **174** (Scheme 59).^{59b}



Scheme 58. Stereoselective reactions of chiral imines.

Phenylthioketene **50** generated in situ from the acid salt reacted with imines **16** forming *trans* β -lactams **176** as the only observed products, and these were utilized in further synthetic transformations (Scheme 60).⁶⁰

Thermal Wolff rearrangement at 80 °C without the need for rhodium catalysis also gave **50**, which was used for in situ [2+2] cycloaddition with cyclic imines forming β -lactams (Scheme 61).⁶¹ Imine **179** did not react with **50**, while imine **180** gave a product from reaction with the dimer of ketene **50**. Yields were improved for reactions of less thermally stable imines by utilizing Rh₂(OAc)₄ catalysis.

Ketene **181** generated by catalysis with $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ showed significant thermal stability in solution, and addition of imines to solutions of **181** provides a route to β -lactams **182** substituted with CO₂Et groups (Scheme 62).^{62a} Phenylthio imines **16a** react with oxygen-substituted ketenes giving *cis/trans* β -lactams with



Scheme 59. Preparation of chloroalkyl- and alkenyl-substituted β-lactams.



Scheme 60. Phenylthioketene reaction with imines.

moderate selectivity, which were oxidized to *N*-sulfinyl and *N*-sulfonyl derivatives (Scheme 62).^{62b}

Aryloxyketenes **124** and ketenimines **184** generated together in situ react by an aza-Wittig reaction in the same pot, providing a route to alkyidene- β -lactams **185** (Scheme 63).⁶³

3.3. Münchnone reactions

Amidoketenes **187** in equilibrium with Münchnones **186** are formed by Pd-catalyzed reaction of acyl chlorides with carbon monoxide and imines **16** and react in situ with excess imine forming β -lactams **188** (Scheme 64).⁶⁴ When 1 equiv of the imine is used initially the amidoketenes **187** formed can react upon addition of a second imine to form mixed β -lactams.⁶⁴

4. Spiro lactam formation

Spiro β -lactams may be formed by [2+2] cycloaddition between ketenes and imines when one of the reactants has an exocyclic functionality, and both exocyclic ketenes and imines have been utilized. In an early example of the application of exocyclic imines,

reaction of ketenes **28** and **53g** generated by in situ dehydrochlorination with imine **189a** formed the *trans* spiro β -lactams **189b** (Scheme 65).^{65a} The reaction of chloroketene **28** with imine **190a** has also been employed to prepare intermediates **190b** designed for use in the total synthesis of spirocyclic β -lactam chartelline alkaloids isolated from marine sources (Scheme 65).^{65b,c} In related studies similar reactions were extended to formation of bis(spiro β -lactams) (vide infra).^{65d}

Ketene–isocyanide reactions have been known for more than 40 years, but the products were not completely elucidated.^{66a} Further investigation has revealed that at low ketene concentrations, diphenylketene (1) reacts with isocyanides RN \equiv C (191) in two ways as illustrated⁶⁶ where 1 in both cases reacts as a nucleophilic component giving the intermediate 192, which reacts further at lower concentrations of 1 and in the presence of Me₃SiCl in a second step in a net [3+2] cycloaddition forming 193 (Scheme 66). Cyclization of 192 is also proposed to occur to generate imine 194, followed by [2+2] cycloaddition with 1 forming β-lactams 195.⁶⁶ Ketenes serve two functions in these multi-component reactions, and were classified as privileged reagents. Products 195b of acylation of enols of the ketone products were also observed.

Exocyclic ketenes have also been exploited for formation of spiro lactams, including **196** generated in situ by dehydrochlorination reacting with imine **16** forming β -lactams **197** (Scheme 67).⁶⁷ The reactions were successful forming β -lactams with spiro chains with 5–7 carbon atoms in 57–70% yields, but not with three or four atoms.⁶⁷

Tetrahydrofuran-derived exocyclic ketenes **198** generated in situ by dehydrochlorination formed spiro β -lactams **199** upon reaction with imine **16** (Scheme 68).⁶⁸ Imines bearing chiral substituents gave high diastereoselectivities up to 95:5.⁶⁸

Computational modeling of the reaction at the MP2/6-31+G* level was also carried out with ketenes **198a,b** reacting with the imine **25** forming zwitterionic intermediates **200** (Scheme 69).⁶⁸ These studies suggested that for ketene **198a** there was a 3.4 kcal/ mol preference for imine attack on the side of the ketene *syn* to oxygen, whereas for ketene **198b** there was a 0.5 kcal/mol preference for imine attack on the side of the ketene *anti* to oxygen. These





^aYield with Rh₂(OAc)₄ catalyzed reaction at room temperature



Scheme 61. Phenylthioketene reaction with cyclic imines.

formed β -lactams with preferences for conrotatory ring closure of 2.1 and 0.2 kcal/mol, respectively. This is in agreement with the experimentally observed greater preference for formation of cis product from **198a** (Scheme 69).⁶⁸

The reaction of chiral proline derived ketenes **201a,b** with imine **11** (R^1 =Ph, R^2 =4-MeOC₆H₄) gave cis-stereoselectivity forming lactams **202** in equal amounts (Scheme 70).⁶⁹ Ketene **201c** (R=H) reaction with the chiral imines **203** and **204** gave the corresponding β -lactams with high cis-selectivity (Scheme 70).⁶⁹ Reaction of **201d** (R=MsO) with imines **11** forming **202** gave the product yields shown in Table 1.⁷⁰ Computational modeling of the reaction of an analogue of **201c** using DFT methods was also carried out for the analysis of the observed stereochemistry,⁶⁹ and in contrast to the results for **198**⁶⁸ there was a preference for attack *anti* to the ring hetero atom.

Spiro β -lactams **208** were obtained in 25–59% yields by reaction of ketene **201c** formed by acyl chloride dehydrochlorination with formaldehyde imines (CH₂=NR) generated in situ from triazines **207** (Scheme 71).⁷¹ The ketene was generated at –40 °C followed by addition of the triazine and BF₃·OEt₂ to depolymerize the

triazine. The β -lactams **208** were resolved and used in further syntheses.

Ketene **209** from in situ acyl chloride dehydrochlorination underwent [2+2] cycloaddition with imine **210** forming the β -lactam **211** in 43% overall yield (Scheme 72).⁷² The product was converted to a totally synthetic β -lactam with activity in proteasome inhibition.

Dehydration of the chiral 1,3-thiazolidine-2-carboxylic acid **212** with Mukaiyama's reagent (**141**) generated ketene **213**, which reacted in situ with imines **214** by [2+2] cycloaddition giving chiral spiro β -lactams **215** and **216**, which were separated by chromatography. Cleavage of the thiazolidine groups in **215** and **216** gave azetidine-2,3-diones (Scheme 73).⁷³

Thermolysis of Meldrum's acid derivatives **217** in the presence of imines **16** resulted in the formation of spiro β -lactams **220** in a process proposed to proceed by oxiranyl ring opening forming dioxinones **218** as unobserved intermediates. These lost acetone giving intermediate acylketenes **219**, which reacted with the imines by [2+2] cycloaddition (Scheme 74).⁷⁴

Dehydrochlorination of the glucose derived acyl chloride **221** formed the ketene **222**, which reacted in situ with imines **16** forming β -lactams **223** and **224** in ratios near 7:3 (Scheme 75).⁷⁵

5. Bis(β-lactams)

The possibility of cooperative effects from two therapeutic functionalities in drug molecules, as well as the possible use of these multifunctional substrates in further synthetic transformations, has prompted interest in the synthesis of $bis(\beta-lactams)$. Syntheses of $bis(\beta-lactams)$ have most often been carried out from reactions of monoketenes with bis(imines), although there have been recent studies involving reactions of the less accessible bis(ketenes). Many different arrangements of the $bis(\beta-lactam)$ groups have been produced by different synthetic schemes.

In a pioneering example [2+2] cycloaddition of in situ generated azidoketene (225) with the chiral imine 226 gave the two diastereomeric azido-substituted *cis* β -lactams **227** as a 1:1 mixture (Scheme 76).⁷⁶ These were separated and as shown for 227a converted to 228a, and repetition of the cycloaddition with each of the separated diastereomers gave >99.5% stereoselectivity in formation of cis/cis-bis(β -lactams) **229**, with a 74% yield for 229a from 228a and 48% yield for the diastereomer **229b** from **228b**. Generation of the bis(β -lactam) **230a** confirmed that the stereoselectivity of ketene-imine cycloaddition was unaffected by the N-substituent. Both cis/cis diastereomers of 230b were formed similarly with high stereoselectivity. These $bis(\beta$ lactams) all have an N1,C3' linkage from the nitrogen of one azetidinone ring to C3 of the second azetidinone (Scheme 76).^{76a,b} Preparation of bis(β -lactams) by coupling of two (β lactams) has also been reported.^{76c}

The reaction of in situ generated oxygen and phthalimido substituted ketenes with racemic imino-substituted β -lactam **231** formed *cis,cis*-bis(β -lactams) **232**, and for R=PhO this was separated using a chiral column into the enantiomers in a 1:1 ratio, showing the high stereoselectivity of the reaction (Scheme 77).⁷⁷

Ketenes generated in situ reacted with optically active β -lactam substituted azadienes **233** and gave diastereomeric *cis,cis*-bis-(β -lactams) **234**, which are linked by a chiral methylene group between N1 and C4' (Scheme 78).⁷⁸

Two equivalents of ketenes generated in situ in the presence of methylene bridged bis(imines) **235** with initial reaction from 0 °C to room temperature followed by increasing the temperature to 70 °C gave two diastereomeric methylene *N*1,*N*1' linked *cis,cis*-bis(β -lactams) **236** (Scheme 79).⁷⁹ Conducting the reaction with 1 equiv of ketene precursor from 0 °C to room temperature



Scheme 62. Imine reactions with 181.



$$ArO = C = NR^1$$
 $\begin{bmatrix} ArO \\ = C = O \end{bmatrix}$ $ArO O \\ = O$

124

184



ArO	R ¹	Yield %	ArO	R ¹	Yield %
PhO	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	76	PhO	3-MeC ₆ H ₄	88
PhO	$4-\text{MeC}_6\text{H}_4$	86	2-Me,4-CIC ₆ H ₃ O	$4-\text{MeOC}_6\text{H}_4$	79
PhO	$2-\text{MeC}_6\text{H}_4$	80	2-Me,4-CIC ₆ H ₃ O	$4-\text{MeC}_6\text{H}_4$	80
PhO	Ph	89	2-Me,4-CIC ₆ H ₃ O	$2-MeC_6H_4$	87
PhO	$3,4$ -Me $_2C_6H_3$	83	2-Me,4-CIC ₆ H ₃ O	Ph	78
4-MeC ₆ H ₄ O	3-MeC ₆ H ₄	85	2-Me,4-CIC ₆ H ₃ O	$3-\text{MeC}_6\text{H}_4$	81
PhO	4-EtOC ₆ H ₄	78	2-Me,4-CIC ₆ H ₃ O	4-EtOC ₆ H ₄	81
4-MeC ₆ H ₄ O	4-EtOC ₆ H ₄	75	4-MeC ₆ H ₄ O	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	77
4-MeC ₆ H ₄ O	Ph	90	3-MeC ₆ H ₄ O	Ph	92
3-MeC ₆ H ₄ O	$4-\text{MeC}_6\text{H}_4$	87	PhO	2-BrC ₆ H ₄	51
3-MeC ₆ H₄O	3-MeC ₆ H ₄	91			

Scheme 63. One pot preparation of alkylidene- β -lactams.



Scheme 64. β-Lactams from Münchone precursors.



Scheme 65. Spiro β-lactams 189b and 190b from exocyclic imines.



Scheme 66. β-Lactams from diphenylketene reaction with isocyanides.



Scheme 67. Spiro β-lactams from carbocyclic ketenes.



R ²	R ¹	Yield	199a	R ²	R ¹	Yield	199a
		%(cis:tr	rans)			%(cis:t	rans)
4-MeO-	4-MeO-	76 (15:	1)	$4-O_2NC_6H_4$	4-MeO-	74 (1:3	5)
C_6H_4	C_6H_4		,	2 0 4	C_6H_4	,	,
Ph	Me	66 (14:	1)	PhCH=CH	4-MeO-	56 (5:1)
					C_6H_4		
Ph	4-MeO-	75 (12:	1)	3-Pyridyl	4-MeO-	63 (4:1)
	C ₆ H ₄				C_6H_4		
Ph	Ph	49 (6:1)	4-0 ₂ NC ₆ H ₄	Ph	58 (1:4	·)
2-Furyl	4-MeO-	64 (8:1)	4-0 ₂ NC ₆ H ₄	Me	71 (1:2	2)
	C_6H_4						
Ph	4-0 ₂ N-	66 (1:1)	$4-O_2NC_6H_4$	4-0 ₂ N-	52 (1:5	j)
	C ₆ H ₄			2 0 1	C ₆ H ₄		
Ph	Bn	77 (5:1)		.		
R ²	R ¹	Yield	199b	R ²	R ¹	Yield	199b
		%(cis:tr	rans)			%(cis:t	rans)
4-MeO-	4-MeO-	69 (3:1)	Ph	Ph	69 (2:1)
C ₆ H₄	C ₆ H₄						
Ph	4-MeO-	66 (3:1)		4-O ₂ NC ₆ H ₄	Ph	68 (1:2)	
	C_6H_4	X.	,	2 0 4		``	,

Scheme 68. Spiro β-lactams from tetrahydrofuran-derived ketenes.



Scheme 69. Selectivity in formation of β -lactams.

followed by addition of 1 equiv of a second ketene precursor and increasing the temperature to 70 °C gave mixed bis(β -lactams).⁷⁹ The products were also prepared containing ¹⁵N label as possible Taxol analogue synthons.

One-step preparation of *cis,cis*-bis(β -lactams) **238** with a C4,C4' linkage was accomplished by reaction of bis(imines) **237** with ketenes generated in situ by dehydrochlorination of acyl chlorides (Scheme 80).⁸⁰ Syntheses of **238** were also carried out by stepwise processes. Base induced rearrangements of the bis(β -lactams) **238** gave fused *cis,cis*-bis(γ -lactams).

A single diastereomer of $bis(\beta$ -lactam) **240** with a C4,C4' linkage was obtained by reaction of the chiral ketene **118b** with bis(imine) **239** (Scheme 81).^{80b} Reaction of ketenes with chiral bis(imine) **241** yielded the two isomers **242** and **243** (Scheme 81).^{80b} Other optically



206 (40%)

Scheme 70. Spiro β-lactams from ketene–imine cycloaddition.

Table 1 Spiro β -lactams from ketene 202d (R=OMs) and imines 16

R	\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	Yiel	Yield (%) R		\mathbb{R}^1	R ²	Yield (%)	
			cis	trans				cis	trans
MsO	Bn	Ph	51	20	MsO	c-Pr	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	41	12
MsO	PMB	$4-FC_6H_4$	54	9	MsO	PMB	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	50	6
MsO	c-Pr	$4-FC_6H_4$	58	_					



Scheme 71. Spiro β-lactams from triazines.

pure bis(β -lactams) were obtained by two-step procedures with initial preparation of imino-substituted monocyclic 2-azetidinones.

Reaction of chiral tartaric acid-derived bis(imines) **244** with ketenes generated in situ gave bis(β -lactams) **245** linked by a two carbon C4,C3' chain in 52–73% yields, with only minor amounts of other diastereomers (Scheme 82).⁸¹ For R=MeO the product was, however, **246**. These were hydrolyzed to diols, which were cleaved to mono β -lactams.

Ketenes generated in situ by dehydrochlorination of acyl chlorides reacted with dimethylene bridged bis(imines) **247** forming N1,N1' linked bis(β -lactams) **248** as a mixture of *cis/cis meso* and DL



Scheme 72. Spiro β -lactam synthesis for proteasome inhibition.



Scheme 73. Spiro thiazolidine β -lactams.

stereoisomers.⁸² The chiral ketene **250** generated by in situ activation of the acid **249** reacted with bis(imine) **247** forming the bis(β -lactam) **251** in 93% yield as a single diastereomer (Scheme 83).⁸²

1,2-*trans*-Bis(iminyl)cyclohexanes **252** reacted with an excess of ketenes generated in situ to form *meso* and DL substituted bis- $(\beta$ -lactams) **253**, with a preference for the *meso*-isomer (Scheme 84).⁸³ The use of enantiomerically pure **252** (R¹=Ph) with **36** (RO=PhO) led to the pure diastereomers of **253** isolated by chromatography. Reaction of **252** with 1 equiv of in situ generated **124a** gave formation of equal amounts of mono(DL- β -lactams) **254**.⁸³

Stereoisomeric bis(β -lactams) **256** were formed in a similar manner from acylic 1,2-bis(imines) **255** by reaction with ketenes.⁸³ The use of enantiomerically pure **255** (R¹=R²=Ph) with **36** (RO= PhO) led to the pure diastereomers of **256** isolated by chromatography (Scheme 85).⁸³

Phenoxyketene (**36**) generated in situ by dehydrochlorination reacted with the bis(imine) **257** forming the bis(β -lactams) **258** with N1,N1' and C4,C4' linkages in 78% yield (Scheme 86).⁸⁴ Reactions of **259**, **261**, and **263** with **36** similarly formed bis(β -lactams) **260**, **262**, and **264**, respectively.⁸⁴ Reactions of **265** and **267** with **36** gave bis(β -lactams) **266** and **268** as mixtures of cis/cis diastereomers in a 58:42 dr.⁸⁵



Ar	R ¹	R ²	Yield % trans:cis	Ar	R ¹	R ²	Yield % trans:cis
Ph	Ph	Ph	17:24	3-MeC ₆ H ₄	Ph	4-CIC ₆ H ₄	29:36
$4-BrC_6H_4$	Ph	Ph	16: 16	3- MeOC ₆ H₄	Ph	4-CIC ₆ H ₄	32:40
4-CIC ₆ H ₄	Ph	Ph	13:21	Ph	Ph	4- MeOC ₆ H ₄	17:21
3-MeC ₆ H ₄	Ph	Ph	22:37	3-MeC ₆ H ₄	Ph	4- MeOC ₆ H ₄	26:32
3- MeOC ₆ H ₄	Ph	Ph	31:40	$4\text{-BrC}_6\text{H}_4$	4- MeC ₆ H ₄	4-MeC ₆ H ₄	20:27
Ph	Ph	$4\text{-CIC}_6\text{H}_4$	13:12	3-MeC ₆ H ₄	4- MeC ₆ H ₄	4-MeC ₆ H ₄	22:32
4-BrC ₆ H ₄	Ph	4-CIC ₆ H ₄	41:37				

Scheme 74. Spiro β-lactams from Meldrum's acid-derived ketenes.



Scheme 75. Spiro β -lactams from a glucose derived ketene.

65:35

59

Ph

4-CIC₆H₄



Scheme 76. N1,C3' Linked bis(β -lactams) by successive [2+2] cycloaddition.



Imine **269** derived from benzylisatin reacted with ketenes generated in situ by Et₃N dehydrochlorination of acyl chlorides in CH₂Cl₂ from -10 °C to room temperature forming spiro β -lactams **270** in yields of 54–71% (Scheme 87).⁸⁶ Similar reactions of bis-(imines) **271** reacted similarly forming bis (spiro β -lactams) **272**.^{65d}





R	R'	R²	Yield (%)	R	R'	R²	Yield (%)
BnO	TMS	PhO	82 77:23 ^a	PhthN	TBDMS	PhO	70 66:34 ^a
PhO	TMS	PhO	78 65:35 ^a	PhthN	TBDMS	BnO	96 70:30 ^a
PhthN	TMS	PhO	86 78:22 ^a	PhthN	TBDMS	PhthN	69 >95:5 ^a
PhthN	TMS	BnO	87 75:25 ^a				

Scheme 78.	Methylene N1,C4'	linked bis(β-lactams) by	[2+2]	cycloaddition.
------------	------------------	----------------------	------	-------	----------------



Scheme 79. Methylene N1,N1' linked cis,cis-bis(β-lactams).

An alternative approach to $bis(\beta-lactam)$ synthesis utilized photolysis of bis(carbene) complexes **273** in the presence of imidazoline **275** to give $bis(\beta-lactams)$ **276** as a 1:1 mixture of cis/cis diastereomers in 55–68% yields. This reaction could formally have proceeded through bisketene complexes **274**, which reacted with the imine functionality in a double [2+2] cycloaddition leading to the observed product **276**, but stepwise processes may be involved (Scheme 88).⁸⁶ A number of other examples were investigated, including those with poly(ethylene glycol) or hydrocarbon linkages, and those from optically active imidazolines.^{87,88}

Formation of bis(lactam) **280** by bisketene reaction with imine **279** may occur upon treatment of diacid **277** with Mukaiyama's reagent **141** to generate the formal bisketene **278** that reacted with the imine (Scheme 89).⁸⁹ The ketenyl groups are not formed simultaneously and may be generated and react in a stepwise fashion. Reaction of **278** with bis(imine) **281** formed a polymer with β -lactams in the polymer chain.⁸⁹

Bisketenes **282** are generated by photochemical Wolff rearrangement and directly observed by IR, and on reaction with imine **38a** gave *cis,cis*-bis(β -lactam) **283** as a mixture of *meso* and pL isomers (Scheme 90).⁹⁰ 1,2-Bisketenylbenzene (**284**) generated by a dehydrochlorination procedure also gave mixtures of *meso* and

R	$\xrightarrow{\text{toluene}}_{rt} \begin{bmatrix} R \\ -C = 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $\xrightarrow{R = R^{1}}_{or R^{2}}$	$ \xrightarrow{R^{3}N} \xrightarrow{NR^{3}} \xrightarrow{R^{1}} \xrightarrow{R^{2}} \xrightarrow{H} \xrightarrow{O} \xrightarrow{R^{3}} \xrightarrow{R^{3}} \xrightarrow{R^{3}} \xrightarrow{R^{3}} \xrightarrow{Z38}$

Two step reaction				One step reaction				
R ¹	R ²	R ³	Yield (%)	R ¹	R ²	R ³	Yield (%)	
Me	PhO	PMP	90	MeO	MeO	PMP	85	
Me	PhO	DAM	40	BnO	BnO	PMP	80	
Ph	PhO	PMP	76	BnO	BnO	DAM	56	
PhO	Md	PMP	70	PhO	PhO	PMP	90	
PhO	CI	PMP	85	Md	Md	PMP	82	
PhS	Phth	PMP	62	Phth	Phth	PMP	89	
PhO	PhS	PMP	70	Phth	Phth	DAM	44	
				PhO	PhO	DAM	64	

^aPMP = 4-MeOC₆H₄, Phth = phthalimido, DAM = malimidyl

Scheme 80. C4,C4' Linked bis(β -lactams) by [2+2] cycloaddition.



Scheme 81. C4,C4'-Bis(β-lactams) from a chiral ketene and from chiral bis(imines).

DLCis, cis-bis(β -lactams) **285**, and 1,4-bisketenylbenzene reacted similarly.⁹⁰

1,2-Bisketenes **287** generated by photolysis of cyclobutenediones **286** reacted with imines **38**, but formed aziridines **288** rather than bis(β -lactams) (Scheme 91).⁹⁰ Computations indicated that this reaction involved rate-limiting ketene–imine reaction forming a zwitterion, which then closed to the product aziridine.⁹⁰

6. Ketene [3+2] and [4+2] cycloadditions with imines

Ketene reactions with conjugated imines have the potential of undergoing not only [2+2] but also [3+2] and [4+2] cycloadditions. In a recent example 2-arylthiocarbamoyl benzimidazolium (**289**),



Scheme 82. C4,C3' Bis(β -lactams) linked by two-carbon chains.





Scheme 83. N1,N1' Linked bis(β-lactams) from bis(imines).

imidazolinium (**291**), and triazolium (**293**) inner salts containing 1,3-dipoles react by [3+2] cycloaddition with ketenes generated either by in situ dehydrochlorination or by PhCO₂Ag induced Wolff rearrangement in highly site-selective processes to form benzimidazoline-, imidazolidine-, or triazoline spiro-pyrrolidones in 58–93% yields (Scheme 92).⁹¹ Stable trimethylsilylketene (**61**) reacted with **289** giving an unstable adduct **290a**, which lost the trimethylsilyl group upon chromatography giving **290b** in 84% yield. Computations at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level for reaction of **291** with









Scheme 85. *N*1,*N*1′ 1,2-Substituted ethyl-linked bis(β-lactams).

Me₂C==C=0 suggest a stepwise mechanism is favored with nitrogen attack on the ketene carbonyl forming intermediate zwitterion **291a** as a shallow minimum (Tables 2–4).⁹¹

Possible [2+2] and [4+2] cycloaddition pathways of *N*-substituted 1,3-diazabuta-1,3-dienes **295** with ketenes have been studied by DFT methods (Scheme 93).⁹² Initial nucleophilic attack forming zwitterions **296** and subsequent ring closure to β -lactams **297** and γ -lactams **298** were analyzed, and the choice of four- or six-membered ring formation was evaluated by the most favorable electrostatic interactions. Cyanoketene reactions with vinylimines also proceed by [4+2] cycloadditions in some cases.^{8c,d}

[4+2] Cycloadditions of ketenes and thioacylimines **299** both generated in situ are catalyzed by *O*-trimethylsilylquinine (TMSQ) to form enantio-enriched *cis*-4,5-disubstituted 1,3-thiazin-6-one heterocycles **300** with 95 to >98% ee and *cis*/trans 95:5 to >97:3 (Scheme 94).⁹³

Silylated vinylketenes **301** generated by either Wolff rearrangement or cyclobutenone ring opening reacted by [4+2] cycloaddition with imines forming α , β -unsaturated δ -valerolactams **302**



Scheme 86. Macrocyclic bis(β-lactam) formation with N1,N1′ linkages.

(Scheme 95).²⁴ The intermediate products underwent de(trimethylsilylation) upon chromatography. Both stepwise reactions involving zwitterions intermediates and concerted [4+2] reactions were considered as possible mechanisms for the reactions.

 α -Bromo- α -alkenylketenes **303** generated by dehydrochlorination of acyl chorides reacted in situ with imines **16** by [2+2] cycloaddition giving bromo-substituted β -lactams **304** (Scheme 96).^{94a,b} Many side chain modifications of the products have been carried out.⁹⁴ 3-Substituted alkenylketenes **305**, however, reacted by [4+2] cycloadditions with imines **16** forming 3-bromo-5,6-dihydropyridin-2-ones **306** (Scheme 96).⁹⁵ Reaction with a chiral imine proceeded stereoselectively.

Ketene generation with 1,8-bis(dimethylamino)naphthalene (**80**) in the presence of benzoylquinidine (BQd) as a nucleophilic



^a1,3-isomer of 272 from 1,3-isomer of 27

Scheme 87. Spiro bis(β-lactam) formation with N1,N1' linkages.



Scheme 88. C3,C3′ Linked bis(β-lactams) from chromium–carbene complexes.



Scheme 89. C3,C3' Linked bis(β-lactams) from formal bisketenes.

chiral catalyst and $Zn(OTf)_2$ as an electrophilic catalyst and *ortho*benzoquinone diimides **307** as coreactants gave quinoxaline derivatives **309** with >99% ee in all cases (Scheme 97).⁹⁶ Ketene enolates **308** are proposed as the reaction intermediates. Conversion of the product **309** (R=Et) to **310** by reduction was also demonstrated.⁹⁶

Ketene enolates **308** prepared as in Scheme 97 give enantioselective reactions with *ortho*-benzoquinone imides **311** forming 1,4benzoxazines **312**, which could be converted to α -amino acids (Scheme 98).⁹⁷ These reactions proceed by alkylation at nitrogen



Scheme 90. Bisketenes in formation of bis(β-lactams) with C3,C3' linkages.

and do not give amide products, and were found to be accelerated by Lewis acids catalysts, especially Sc(OTf)₃. A mechanism was proposed involving nucleophilic attack of the ketene enolate on the nitrogen of the catalyst activated *ortho*-benzoquinone imide.^{97b}

Acylketenes **314** from furandiones **313** reacted with imines **16** to give quinoxalines **315**, while reaction with dicyclohexylcarbodiimide **316** gave **317** (Scheme 99).⁹⁸



Scheme 91. Aziridine formation from 1,2-bisketene reaction with imines.



Scheme 92. 1,3-Cycloaddition of ketenes with 1,3-dipoles.

Table 2

Ketene reactions with benzimidazolium inner salts 289ª

R ² , R ³ , Ar	R, R ¹	Yield %	R ² , R ³ , Ar	R, R ¹	Yield (%)
Bn, Bn, Ph	Bn, H	91	<i>n-</i> Bu, Bn, Ph	Me, Me	83
Bn, Bn, 4-ClC ₆ H ₄	Me, Me	85	Bn, Bn, Ph	CH ₂ CH ₂ Ph	66 ^b
Bn, Bn, 4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	Me, Me	85	Bn, Bn, Ph	(CH ₂) ₅	90
4-ClC ₆ H ₄ Bn, 4-ClC ₆ H ₄ Bn, Ph	<i>i</i> -Pr, H	58 ^b	Bn, Bn, Ph	Bn, H	58 ^b
4-ClC ₆ H ₄ Bn, 4-ClC ₆ H ₄ Bn, Ph	Me,Me	87	Bn, Bn, Ph	Me,Me	93
4-ClC ₆ H ₄ Bn, 4 -ClC ₆ H ₄ Bn, Ph	Bn, H	85	Et, Bn, Ph	Me,Me	81

^a Ketenes generated by dehydrochlorination unless indicated.

^b Ketene generated by Wolff rearrangement.

Table 3

Ketene reactions with	ith imid	lazolinium	inner sa	lts 291
-----------------------	----------	------------	----------	----------------

R ² , R ³ , Ar	R, R ¹	Yield %	R ² , R ³ , Ar	R, R ¹	Yield (%)
4-ClC ₆ H ₄ Bn, 4-ClC ₆ H ₄ Bn, Ph	Me,Me	85	Bn, Bn, Ph	Me,Me	82
$4-ClC_6H_4Bn$, $4-ClC_6H_4Bn$, Ph	H, Bn	83	Bn, Bn, Ph	$(CH_{2})_{5}$	91

^a Ketenes generated by dehydrochlorination unless indicated.

Table 4

Ketene reactions with triazolium inner salts 293 ^a	

R ² , R ³ , R ⁴ , Ar	R, R ¹	Yield %	R ² , R ³ , R ⁴ , Ar	R^1 , R^2	Yield %
4-Tol, Ph, Ph, 4-ClC ₆ H ₄	Me, Me	60	Ph, Ph, Ph, Ph	Me, Me	71
a Keten er men en te dit		1.1	1	1	

^a Ketenes generated by dehydrochlorination unless indicated.

In an extension⁹⁹ of earlier studies¹⁰⁰ diphenylketene (**1**) generated in situ by dehydrochlorination of diphenylacetyl chloride reacts with 1,2-dialkyldiaziridines (**318**) in benzene at 80 °C forming β -lactams **321** (41%, R=Et; 32%, R=*n*-Pr) together with



Scheme 93. β - and γ -Lactam formation from ketenes and 1,3-diaza-1,3-butadienes.

R	0 ⊥ + R	H 1 N Ts	$\begin{array}{c} i-\Pr_{2}\\ CH_{2}\\ CH_{2}\\ \\ \\ F_{2}\\ -78\\ SR^{2} \\ SR^{2} \\ TMS \end{array}$	NEt Cl_2 O Cl_2 Cl_2 Cl_2 R R Cl_2	=C=O +	R ¹ Ts	$\begin{bmatrix} N \\ SR^2 \end{bmatrix} \longrightarrow$ 299	R + S = S = S = S = S = S = S = S = S = S
R	R ¹	R^2	Yield %	R	R ¹	R ²	Yield %	
Me	BnCH ₂	Et	76	Me	<i>n</i> -Pr	Bn	67	
Me	<i>с</i> -С ₆ Н ₁₁	Et	75	Ме	<i>i</i> -PrCH ₂	Bn	74	
Me	BnOCH ₂	Et	51	Et	<i>i</i> -PrCH ₂	Bn	72	
Et	BnCH ₂	Et	68	<i>n</i> -Pr	BnCH ₂	Bn	58	
Bn	BnCH ₂	Et	65	<i>i</i> -Pr	BnCH ₂	Bn	63	
Ме	Ph	Et	59	Et	Ph	Bn	59	

Scheme 94. Thiazin-6-one formation from ketenes and N-thioacylimines.



Scheme 95. [4+2] Cycloaddition of vinylketenes with silyl imines.

1,3-dialkylimidazolidines **322** (21%, R=Et; 8%, R=*n*-Pr).^{99a} The reaction was proposed to involve addition of the ketene to the diaziridine forming zwitterions **319**, which both cleaved to **320** followed by capture by **1** forming β -lactams **321**, and also underwent ring expansion forming 1,3-dialkylimidazolidines **322** (Scheme 100). Reactions of **1** or arylketenes **53** generated in



Scheme 96. [4+2] Cycloaddition of bromo(vinyl)ketenes with imines.

situ from -30 °C to room temperature with **318** gave only 1,3-dialkylimidazolidines **322** or **323**, respectively (Scheme 100).^{99a} The reaction was also studied by computational methods.^{99b}



CF₃,H Et 81 COPh,H 4-BrBn 69 <u>CF₃,H *i*-Pr 79 COPh,H 4-BrBn 72^a ^aBenzoylquinine catalyst</u>

Scheme 97. [4+2] Cycloaddition of ketene enolates with *ortho*-benzoquinone diimides.



Scheme 98. [4+2] Cycloaddition of ketene enolates with *ortho*-benzoquinone diimides.



Scheme 99. Acylketene reaction with imines.

7. Ketene [2+2] cycloaddition with azo compounds

Ketene reactions with azo compounds (diazenes) forming aza- β -lactams were reported by Staudinger in 1912,^{101a} and a number of examples have been reported.^{101b-f} Recently the reaction of ketenes **89** with dimethyl azodicarboxylate (**324**) catalyzed by (-)-**91** has been found to give aza- β -lactams **325** in good yields and enantio-selectivities (Scheme 101).^{101g} The proposed mechanism corresponds to that for ketene-imine cycloadditions (Scheme 30).^{31a,b}



Scheme 101. Stereoselective ketene-diazene [2+2] cycloaddition.



Scheme 100. β-Lactams and 1,3-imidazolidines from diaziridines and ketenes.

8. Outlook

As the [2+2] cycloaddition of ketenes and imines forming β -lactams and related structures enters its second century of active study the therapeutic and synthetic applications of this family combined with the investigative creativity of chemists worldwide guarantees a bright future for the study of this reaction. Many further studies of bis(β -lactams) and spiro β -lactams, as well as advances in both experimental and mechanistic study, may be anticipated.

Acknowledgements

Financial support by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 20702005) and the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, and the indispensable assistance of Annette D. Allen are gratefully acknowledged.

References and notes

- (a) Staudinger, H. Chem. Ber. 1907, 40, 1145–1148; (b) Staudinger, H. Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1907, 356, 51–123.
- (a) Sheehan, J. C. The Enchanted Ring: The Untold Story of Penicillin; MIT: Cambridge, MA, 1982; (b) Brown, K. Penicillin Man: Alexander Fleming and the Antibiotic Revolution; Sutton: London, 2004; (c) Woodward, R,B.; Johnson, J. R., Robinson, R. In The Chemistry of Penicillin; Clarke, H. T., Johnson, J. R., Robinson, R., Eds.; Princeton University Press: Princeton, NJ, 1949; Chapter 15, pp 440– 454; (d) Todd, A. R.; Cornforth, J. W. Biog. Mem. Fellows Roy. Soc. 1981, 27, 628– 695; (e) Comments by R. Robinson, pp 449–451 of Ref. 2c; (f) Sheehan, J. C.; Buhle, E. L.; Corey, E. J.; Laubach, G. D.; Ryan, J. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1950, 72, 3828–3829; (g) Sheehan, J. C.; Henery-Logan, K. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 1262–1263.
- (a) Baldwin, J. Tetrahedron 1983, 39, 2445–2608; (b) van der Steen, F. H.; van Koten, G. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 7503–7524; (c) Miller, M. J. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 5553–5742; (d) Singh, G. S. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 7631–7649; (e) Georg, G. I. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1993, 3, 2157–2258; (f) George, G. L; Ravikumar, V. T. In The Organic Chemistry of β-Lactams; Georg, G. I., Ed.; VCH: New York, NY, 1993; Chapter 6, pp 295–368; (g) Palomo, C.; Aizpurua, J. M.; Ganboa, I.; Oiarbide, M. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 3223–3235; (h) Palomo, C.; Aizpurua, J. M.; Ganboa, I.; Oiarbide, M. Curr. Med. Chem. 2004, 11, 1837–1872; (i) Science of Synthesis (Houben-Weyl); Bellus, D., Danheiser, R., Eds.; Thieme: Stuttgart, 2006; Vol. 23; (j) Bose, A. K.; Manhas, M. S.; Banik, B. K.; Srirajan, V. In The Amide Linkage; Greenberg, A., Breneman, C. M., Liebman, J. F., Eds.; Wiley Interscience: New York, NY, 2000; Chapter 7, pp 157–214; (k) Ojima, I. Acc. Chem. Res. 1995, 28, 383–389; (l) Mukerjee, A. K.; Srivastava, R. C. Synthesis 1973, 327–346; (m) Corey, E. J.; Czakó, B.; Kürti, L. Molecules and Medicine; Wiley: Hoboken, NJ, 2007, pp 130–131; (n) Alcaide, B.; Almendros, P.; Aragoncillo, C. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 4437–4492.
- (a) Brotzu, G. Lav. Ist. Ig. Cagliari 1948, ; (b) Burton, H. S.; Abraham, E. P. Biochem. J. 1951, 50, 168–174; (c) Newton, G. G. F.; Abraham, E. P. Nature 1955, 175, 548; (d) Woodward, R. B. Recent Advances in the Chemistry of Natural Products, Nobel Lectures, Chemistry 1963–1970; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1972; (e) Woodward, R. B.; Heusler, K.; Gosteli, J.; Naegeli, P.; Oppolzer, W.; Ramage, R.; Ranganathan, S.; Vorbrüggen, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1966, 88, 852–853; (f) Huffman, W. F.; Holden, K. G.; Buckley, T. F., III; Gleason, J. G.; Wu, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 2352–2353; (g) Bryan, D. B.; Hall, R. F.; Holden, K. G.; Huffman, W. F.; Gleason, J. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 2352–2355; (h) Evans, D. A.; Sjogren, E. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 26, 3787–3790.
- (a) Tidwell, T. T. Ketenes, 2nd ed.; Wiley Interscience: Hoboken, NJ, 2006; (b) Tidwell, T. T. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 563–576; (c) Tidwell, T. T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 5778–5785; (d) Schiff, H. Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1864, 131, 118–119; (e) Tidwell, T. T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 1016–1020.
- 6. (a) Ulrich, H. Cycloaddition Reactions of Heterocumulenes; Academic: New York, NY, 1967, pp 38–109; (b) Muller, L. L.; Hamer, J. 1.2-Cycloaddition Reactions. The Formation of Three- and Four-Membered Heterocycles; Interscience: New York, NY, 1967; (c) Koppel, G. A. In Small Ring Heterocycles; Hassner, A., Ed.; Wiley: New York, NY, 1983; Vol. 42, p 219; (d) Backes, J. In Houben-Weyl, Methoden der Organischen Chemie; Muller, E., Bayer, O., Eds.; Thieme: Stuttgart, 1991; Band E16B, pp 31–942; (e) DeKimpe, N. In Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Katritzky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Scriven, E. F. V., Padwa, A., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1996; Vol. 1B, pp 507–568.
- (a) Hoffmann, R.; Woodward, R. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1965, 87, 2046–2048; (b) Hoffmann, R.; Woodward, R. B. Acc. Chem. Res. 1968, 1, 17–22; (c) Woodward, R. B.; Hoffmann, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1969, 8, 781–853; The Conservation of Orbital Symmetry; Chemie, Academic: New York, NY, 1970; (d) Zimmerman, H. E. Acc. Chem. Res. 1971, 4, 272–280; (e) Zimmerman, H. E. In Pericyclic Reactions; Marchand, A. P., Lehr, R. E., Eds.; Academic: New York, NY, 1977; Vol. 1; Chapter 2, pp 53–107.
- (a) Bose, A. K.; Spiegelman, G.; Manhas, M. S. Tetrahedron Lett. **1971**, 12, 3167– 3170; (b) Evans, D. A.; Sjogren, E. B. Tetrahedron Lett. **1985**, 26, 3783–3786; (c)

Moore, H. W.; Hernandez, L., Jr.; Chambers, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1978**, 100, 2245–2247; (d) Moore, H. W.; Hughes, G.; Srinivasachar, K.; Fernandez, M.; Nguyen, N. V.; Schoon, D.; Tranne, A. J. Org. Chem. **1985**, *50*, 4231–4238.

- . Cossio, F. P.; Arrieta, A.; Sierra, M. A. Acc. Chem. Res., 2008, 41, 925-936.
- 10. (a) Huisgen, R.; Feiler, L.; Binsch, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1964**, 3, 753-754; (b) Brady, W. T.; O'Neal, H. R. J. Org. Chem. **1967**, 32, 612-614.
- 11. Kagan, H. B.; Luche, J. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1968, 9, 3093-3096.
- (a) Pacansky, J.; Chang, J. S.; Brown, D. W.; Schwarz, W. J. Org. Chem. **1982**, 47, 2233–2234;
 (b) Lynch, J. E.; Riseman, S. M.; Laswell, W. L.; Tschaen, D. M.; Volante, R. P.; Smith, G. B.; Shinkai, I. J. Org. Chem. **1989**, 54, 3792–3796.
- (a) Fang, D.; Fu, X. Int. J. Quantum Chem. 1992, 43, 669–676; (b) Sordo, J. A.; González, J.; Sordo, T. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 6249–6251.
- (a) Costio, F. P.; Ugalde, J. M.; Lopez, X.; Leca, B.; Palono, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 995–1004;
 (b) Xu, Z.-F.; Fang, D.; Fu, X.-Y. J. Mol. Struct. (Theochem) 1994, 305, 191–196;
 (c) Yamabe, S.; Minato, T.; Osamura, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 450–452;
 (d) Assfeld, X.; Lopez, R.; Ruiz-Lopez, M. F.; González, J.; Sordo, T. L.; Sordo, J. A. J. Mol. Struct. (Theochem) 1995, 331, 1–2.
- (a) López, R.; Sordo, T. L.; Sordo, J. A.; González, J. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 7036– 7037; (b) Arrieta, A.; Lecea, B.; Cossio, F. P. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 5869–5876.
- 16. Venturini, A.; González, J. J. Org. Chem. **2002**, 67, 9089–9092.
- (a) Banik, B. K.; Becker, F. F. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 6551–6554; (b) Banik, B. K.; Lecea, B.; Arrieta, A.; de Cózar, A.; Cossío, F. P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 3028–3032.
- (a) Rode, J. E.; Dobrowolski, J. Cz J. Phys. Chem. A 2006, 110, 3723–3737; (b) Rode, J. E.; Dobrowolski, J. Cz Chem. Phys. Lett. 2007, 449, 240–245.
- (a) Arrieta, A.; Cossío, F. P.; Fernández, I.; Gómez-Gallego, M.; Lecea, B.; Mancheño, M. J.; Sierra, M. A. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2000**, *122*, 11509–11510; (b) Fernández, I.; Sierra, M. A.; Mancheño, M. J.; Gómez-Gallego, M.; Cossío, F. P. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **2008**, 2454–2462.
- (a) Jiao, L.; Liang, Y.; Xu, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 6060–6069; (b) Xu, J. Arkivoc 2009, ix, 21–44.
- (a) Liang, Y.; Jiao, L.; Zhang, S.; Xu, J. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 334–337; (b) Wang, Y.; Liang, Y.; Jiao, L.; Du, D.-M.; Xu, J. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 6983–6990.
 (a) Li, B.; Wang, Y.; Du, D.-M.; Xu, J. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 990–997; (b) Hu, L.;
- (a) Li, B.; Wang, Y.; Du, D.-M.; Xu, J. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 990–997; (b) Hu, L.; Wang, Y.; Li, B.; Du, D.-M.; Xu, J. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 9387–9392.
- (a) Novikova, O. P.; Livantsova, L. I.; Zaitseva, G. S. Zh. Obshch. Khim. 1989, 59, 2630–2631; (b) Zaitseva, G. S.; Novikova, O. P.; Livantsova, L. I.; Petrosyan, V. S.; Baukov, Y. I. Zh. Obshch. Khim. 1991, 61, 1389–1395; Russ. J. Gen. Chem. (Engl. Transl.) 1991, 61, 1268–1273.
- 24. Bennett, D. M.; Okamoto, I.; Danheiser, R. L. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 641-644.
- 25. Kron, J.; Schubert, U. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 373, 203–219.
- 26. Brady, W. T.; Owens, R. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1976, 17, 1553-1556.
- Pelotier, B.; Rajzmann, M.; Pons, J.-M.; Campomanes, P.; López, R.; Sordo, T. L. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 2599–2605.
- 28. (a) Taggi, A. E.; Hafez, A. M.; Wack, H.; Young, B.; Drury, W. J., Ill; Lectka, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7831–7832; (b) France, S.; Weatherwax, A.; Taggi, A. E.; Lectka, T. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 592–600; (c) Wack, H.; Drury, W. J., Ill; Taggi, A. E.; Ferraris, D.; Lectka, T. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1985–1988; (d) Taggi, A. E.; Hafez, A. M.; Wack, H.; Young, B.; Ferraris, D.; Lectka, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 6626–6635.
- (a) France, S.; Shah, M. H.; Weatherwax, A.; Wack, H.; Roth, J. P.; Lectka, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 1206–1215; (b) Paull, D. H.; Abraham, C. J.; Scerba, M. T.; Alden-Danforth, E.; Lectka, T. Acc. Chem. Res. 2008, 41, 653–663.
- (a) Hafez, A. M.; Taggi, A. E.; Dudding, T.; Lectka, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 10853–10859;
 (b) Huang, Y.; Calter, M. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 1657–1659;
 (c) Weatherwax, A.; Abraham, C. J.; Lectka, T. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3461–3463.
- (a) Hodous, B. L.; Fu, G. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 1578–1579; (b) Fu, G. C. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 542–547; (c) Lee, E. C.; Hodous, B. L.; Bergin, E.; Shih, C.; Fu, G. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 11586–11587.
- Duguet, N.; Campbell, C. D.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Smith, A. D. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2008, 6, 1108–1113.
- 33. Zhang, Y.-R.; He, L.; Wu, X.; Shao, P.-L.; Ye, S. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 277-280.
- 34. Sereda, O.; Wilhelm, R. Synlett 2007, 3032-3036.
- Shaikh, A. L.; Kale, A. S.; Shaikh, M. A.; Puranik, V. G.; Deshmukh, A. R. A. S. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 3380–3388.
- Shinkre, B. A.; Puranik, V. G.; Bhawal, B. M.; Deshmukh, A. R. A. S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 453–459.
- 37. Abbiati, G.; Rossi, E. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 7205-7212.
- Palomo, C.; Aizpurua, J. M.; García, J. M.; Galarza, R.; Legido, M.; Urchegui, R.; Román, P.; Luque, A.; Server-Carrió, J.; Linden, A. J. Org. Chem. **1997**, 62, 2070– 2079.
- Arun, M.; Joshi, S. N.; Puranik, V. G.; Bhawal, B. M.; Deshmukh, A. R. A. S. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 2309–2316.
- Viso, A.; de la Pradilla, R. F.; Flores, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2006, 47, 8911–8915.
 Bongini, A.; Panunzio, M.; Piersanti, G.; Bandini, E.; Martelli, G.; Spunta, G.; Venturini, A. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2000, 2379–2390.
- 42. Martelli, G.; Spunta, G.; Panunzio, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 6257-6260.
- 43. Panunzio, M.; Bacchi, S.; Campana, E.; Fiume, L.; Vicennati, P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, 40, 8495–8498.
- (a) Arrieta, A.; Cossío, F. P.; Lecea, B. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 8458–8464; (b) Campomanes, P.; Menêndez, M. I.; Sordo, T. L. J. Phys. Chem. A 2005, 109, 11022–11026.
- Palomo, C.; Aizpurua, J. M.; Benito, A.; Cuerdo, L.; Fratila, R. M.; Miranda, J. I.; Linden, A. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 6368–6373.

- 46. (a) Ruhland, B.; Bhandari, A.; Gordon, E. M.; Gallop, M. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 253–254; (b) Rafai Far, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed 2003, 42, 2340–2348.
- (a) Díez, E.; Fernández, R.; Marquéz-López, E.; Martín-Zamora, E.; Lassaletta, J. M. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2749–2752; (b) Fernández, R.; Ferrete, A.; Lassaletta, J. M.; Llera, J. M.; Martín-Zamora, E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 831–833.
- (a) Tanaka, Y.; Sakamoto, T.; Kamikawa, K.; Uemura, M. Synlett 2003, 519–521;
 (b) Del Buttero, P.; Molteni, G.; Papagni, A. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 3949–3953.
- (a) Hevia, E.; Pérez, J.; Riera, V.; Miguel, D.; Campomanes, P.; Menéndez, M. I.; Sordo, T. L.; García-Granda, S. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125*, 3706–3707; (b) Bonini, B. F.; Femoni, C.; Comes-Franchini, M.; Fochi, M.; Mazzanti, G.; Ricci, A.; Varchi, G. Synlett **2001**, 1092–1096; (c) Sierra, M. A.; Mancheño, M. J.; Vicente, R.; Gómez-Gallego, M. *J. Org. Chem.* **2001**, *66*, 8920–8925.
- 50. Krasodomska, M.; Serda, P. Monatsh. Chem. 2007, 138, 199-204.
- Konev, A. S.; Novikov, M. S.; Khlebnikov, A. F.; Tehrani, K. A. J. Fluorine Chem. 2007, 128, 114–119.
- Halve, A. K.; Bhadauria, D.; Bhaskar, B.; Dubey, R.; Bhadauria, R. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 2007, 84, 193–196.
- Tsuchii, K.; Tsuboi, Y.; Kawaguchi, S.; Takahashi, J.; Sonoda, N.; Nomoto, A.; Ogawa, A. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 415–423.
- Alcaide, B.; Almendros, P.; Pardo, C.; Rodríguez-Vicente, A.; Ruiz, M. P. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 7894–7906.
- 55. Singh, P.; Bhargava, G.; Mahajan, M. P. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 11267-11273.
- 56. Testero, S. A.; Mata, E. G. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 4783-4786.
- 57. Nahmany, M.; Melman, A. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 5804-5806.
- Van Brabandt, W.; Vanwalleghem, M.; D'hooghe, M.; De Kimpe, N. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 7083–7086.
- (a) Van Brabandt, W.; De Kimpe, N. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 3369–3374; (b) Van Brabandt, W.; De Kimpe, N. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 8717–8722.
- 60. Kanwar, S.; Sharma, S. D. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2007, 44, 1121-1128.
- 61. Jiao, L.; Liang, Y.; Zhang, Q.; Zhang, S.; Xu, J. Synthesis 2006, 659-665.
- (a) Jiao, L.; Zhang, Q.; Liang, Y.; Zhang, Z. W.; Xu, J. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 815– 818; (b) Coantic, S.; Mouysset, D.; Mignani, S.; Tabart, M.; Stella, L. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 3205–3216.
- Yang, Y.-Y.; Shou, W.-G.; Hong, D.; Wang, Y.-G. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 3574– 3577.
- (a) Dhawan, R.; Dghaym, R. D.; St. Cyr, D. J.; Arndtsen, B. A. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3927–3930; (b) Dhawan, R.; Dghaym, R. D.; Arndtsen, B. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 1474–1475.
- (a) Barba, V.; Hernández, C.; Rojas-Lima, S.; Farfán, N.; Santillan, R. Can. J. Chem. 1999, 77, 2025–2032; (b) Lin, X.; Weinreb, S. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 2631–2633; (c) Sun, C.; Lin, X.; Weinreb, S. M. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 3159– 3166; (d) Jarrahpour, A.; Khalili, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 7140–7143.
- (a) Ugi, I.; Rosendahl, K. Chem. Ber. **1961**, 94, 2233–2238; (b) Robertson, J.; Bell,
 S. J.; Krivokapic. Org. Biomol. Chem. **2005**, 3, 4246–4251; (c) Tejedor, D.; Garcîa-Tellado, F. Chem. Soc. Rev. **2007**, 36, 484–491.
- Oh, S. J.; Jung, K.-H.; Moon, B. H.; Chuljin Ahn, C. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 2007, 28, 1085–1086.
- 68. Alonso, E.; del Pozo, C.; González, J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2002, 571-576.
- Macías, A.; Alonso, A.; del Pozo, C.; Venturini, A.; González, J. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 7004–7012.
- Khasanov, A. B.; Ramirez-Weinhouse, M. M.; Webb, T. R.; Thiruvazhi, M. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 5766–5769.
- Macías, A.; Ramallal, A. M.; Alonso, E.; del Pozo, C.; González, J. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 7721–7730.
- 72. Hogan, P. C.; Corey, E. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 15386-15387.
- (a) Cremonesi, G.; Dalla Croce, P.; Fontana, F.; Forni, A.; La Rosa, C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2005, 16, 3371–3379; (b) Cremonesi, G.; Dalla Croce, P.; Fontana, F.; La Rosa, C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2008, 19, 554–561.
- 74. Tsuno, T.; Kondo, K.; Sugiyama, K. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2006, 43, 21–28.
- Chincholkar, P. M.; Puranik, V. G.; Deshmukh, A. R. A. S. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 9179–9187.
- (a) Hatanaka, N.; Ojima, I. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1981, 344–346; (b) Ojima, I.; Nakahashi, K.; Brandstadter, S. M.; Hatanaka, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc.

1987, *109*, 1798–1805; (c) Ojima, I.; Zhao, M.; Yamato, T.; Nakahashi, K.; Yamashita, M.; Abe, R. J. Org. Chem. **1991**, *56*, 5263–5277.

- Bose, A. K.; Womelsdorf, J. F.; Krishnan, L.; Urbanczyk-Lipkowska, Z.; Shelly, D. C.; Manhas, M. S. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 5379–5390.
- 78. Jayaraman, M.; Puranik, V. G.; Bhawal, B. M. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 9005–9016.
- 79. Park, S. H.; Lee, S. Y.; Bose, A. K. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 2001, 22, 493–498.
- (a) Alcaide, B.; Martín-Cantalejo, Y.; Pérez-Castells, J.; Rodríquez-López, J.; Sierra, M. A.; Monge, A.; Pérez-Garcia, V. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 5921–5931; (b) Alcaide, B.; Martín-Cantalejo, Y.; Pérez-Castells, J.; Sierra, M. A.; Monge, A. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 9156–9163.
- 81. Jayaraman, M.; Deshmukh, A. R. A. S.; Bhawal, B. M. J. Org. Chem. **1994**, 59, 932– 934.
- Karupaiyan, K.; Puranik, V. G.; Deshmukh, A. R. A. S.; Bhawal, B. M. *Tetrahedron* 2000, *56*, 8555–8560.
- Shaikh, A. L.; Puranik, V. G.; Deshmukh, A. R. A. S. *Tetrahedron* **2005**, *61*, 2441–2451.
 Sierra, M. A.; Pellico, D.; Gómez-Gallego, M.; Macheño, M. J.; Torres, R. J. Org. *Chem.* **2006**, *71*, 8787–8793.
- 85. Arumugam, N.; Raghunathan, R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2006**, 47, 8855–8857.
- Bumas, S.; Lastra, E.; Hegedus, L. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 3368–3379.
- Johns, S., Lastra, E., Hegedus, L. S. J. Ani. Chem. 50c. 1995, 117, 306–3378.
 (a) Hsiao, Y.; Hegedus, L. S. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 3586–3591; (b) Puntener, K.; Hellman, M. D.; Kuester, E.; Hegedus, L. S. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 8301–8306.
- 88. Kuester, E.; Hegedus, L. S. Organometallics 1999, 18, 5318-5321.
- 89. Sato, A.; Endo, T. Macromolecules 1998, 31, 7996-7998.
- Allen, A. D.; Godoy, J.; Fu, N.; Nagy, M.; Spadaro, S.; Tidwell, T. T.; Vukovic, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 2386–2387.
- 91. Li, J.-Q.; Liao, R.-Z.; Ding, W.-J.; Cheng, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 6266-6269.
- 92. Chemouri, H.; Mekelleche, S. M. J. Mol. Struct. (Theochem) 2007, 813, 67-72.
- 93. Xu, X.; Wang, K.; Nelson, S. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 11690-11691.
- 94. (a) Benfatti, F.; Cardillo, G.; Fabbroni, S.; Gentilucci, L.; Perciaccante, R.; Piccinelli, F.; Tolomelli, A. Synthesis **2005**, 61–70; (b) Cardillo, G.; Fabbroni, S.; Gentilucci, L.; Perciaccante, R.; Piccinelli, F.; Tolomelli, A. Org. Lett. **2005**, 7, 533–536; (c) Cardillo, G.; Fabbroni, S.; Gentilucci, L.; Perciaccante, R.; Tolomelli, A. Adv. Synth. Catal. **2005**, 347, 833–838; (d) Benfatti, F.; Cardillo, G.; Fabbroni, S.; Gentilucci, L.; Perciaccante, R.; Tolomelli, A. Arkivoc **2005**, *vi*, 136– 152; (e) Benfatti, F.; Cardillo, G.; Gentilucci, L.; Tolomelli, A. Eur. J. Org. Chem. **2007**, 3199–3205.
- Cardillo, G.; Fabbroni, S.; Gentilucci, L.; Perciaccante, R.; Piccinelli, F.; Tolomelli, A. *Tetrahedron* 2004, 60, 5031–5040.
- (a) Abraham, C. J.; Paull, D. H.; Scerba, M. T.; Grebinski, J. W.; Lectka, T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2006**, *128*, 13370–13371; (b) Paull, D. H.; Wolfer, J.; Grebinski, J. W.; Weatherwax, A.; Lectka, T. Chimia **2007**, *61*, 240–246.
- (a) Wolfer, J.; Bekele, T.; Abraham, C. J.; Dogo-Isonagie, C.; Lectka, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 7398–7400; (b) Paull, D. H.; Alden-Danforth, E.; Wolfer, J.; Dogo-Isonagie, C.; Abraham, C. J.; Lectka, T. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 5380–5382.
- Lisovenko, N. Yu.; Maslivets, A. N.; Aliev, Z. G. Russ. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 43, 117–120.
- (a) Shevtsov, A. V.; Petukhova, V. Yu.; Strelenko, Yu. A.; Lyssenko, K. A.; Makhova, N. N.; Tartakovsky, V. A. Russ. Chem. Bull., Int. Ed. 2007, 54, 1021–1031; (b) Shevtsov, A. V.; Ananikov, V. P.; Makhova, N. N. Russ. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 43, 1101–1105; (c) Shevtsov, A. V.; Petukhova, V.; Yu, Strelenko; Yu, A.; Makhova, N. N. Mendeleev Commun. 2005, 15, 29–31; (d) Kostyanovsky, R. G.; Krutuis, O. N.; Stankevich, A. A.; Lyssenko, K. A. Mendeleev Commun. 2003, 13, 221–225.
- 100. (a) Komatsu, M.; Nishikase, N.; Sakamoto, M.; Ohashiro, Y.; Agawa, T. J. Org. Chem. **1974**, 39, 3198–3204; (b) Komatsu, M.; Tarnabuchi, S.; Minakata, S.; Ohashiro, Y. *Heterocycles* **1999**, *50*, 67–70.
- (a) Staudinger, H. *Die Ketene*, **1912**, 91; (b) Ingold, C. K.; Weaver, S. D. J. Chem. Soc. **1925**, 127, 378–387; (c) Cook, A. H.; Jones, D. G. J. Chem. Soc. **1941**, 184–187; (d) Kerber, R. C.; Ryan, T. J.; Hsu, S. D. J. Org. Chem. **1974**, 39, 1215–1221; (e) Horner, L.; Spietschka, E. Chem. Ber. **1956**, 89, 2765–2768; (f) Ulrich, H. Cycloaddition Reactions of Heterocumulenes; Academic Press, NY, 1967, pp 84–87; (g) Berlin, J. M.; Fu, G. C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2008**, 47, 7048–7050.

Biographical sketch





Nanyan Fu was born in 1973 in Quanzhou, Fujian, China, and studied chemistry at Nankai University, China, where she received B.Sc. degree in 1996. During 1996–1999 she studied organic chemistry at Perking University, China, under the direction of Professor Jiaxi Xu and received her M.Sc. degree in 1999 in the field of synthetic methodology of phosphonopeptides. She received her Ph.D. degree at Nankai University under the supervision of Professor Jitao Wang in 2002, completing her doctoral thesis on the application of indium tribromide, a green Lewis acid, in organic synthesis. She carried out postdoctoral research in Professor H.N.C. Wong's group at the Chinese University of Toronto, Canada, where she initiated her research projects in the field of ketne chemistry. Since 2007 she has been professor in Fuzhou University, China, with research interests in ketene chemistry, reactive intermediate studies and synthetic methodology.

Thomas T. Tidwell received his B.S. degree from the Georgia Institute of Technology in 1960, and Ph.D. from Harvard University in 1964 for research in the area of steric crowding with Paul D. Bartlett. After postdoctoral work with Alan Katritzky at the University of East Anglia (UK) and Teddy Traylor at the University of California, San Diego, he taught at the University of South Carolina, and since 1972 has been at the University of Toronto. His recent research has involved ketene chemistry, antiaromaticity in pyridine ylides, and the mechanism of β -lactam formation by [2+2] cycloaddition. Other interests include tennis and the history of chemistry.